
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 20TH MARCH, 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER
This Agenda has been prepared by the 

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

Strategic

3. Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 60

Portfolio

4. Highway Adoptions 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

61 - 64

5. After School/Holiday Provision at the Cwm Golau 
Integrated Children’s Centre (ICC) 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 65 - 74

6. Active Travel Fund And Safe Routes In The 
Community Fund 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

75 - 80

7. Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus 
Programme 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

81 - 88

8. CCTV Control Room Upgrade 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

89 - 92

Information Reports

9. MTCBC Change and Well-Being Programme – 
Quarter 3 Progress 2018/2019 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 93 - 98

10. Annual Report Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments 2017/2018 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

99 - 114



11. Welsh Government Warm Homes - Arbed Scheme 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

115 - 118

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (13, 14, 15) under 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

12. Debt Write Off Report 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 119 - 126

13. Sundry Debt Write Off Report 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 127 - 132

14. Reconfiguration of the Edge of Care Offer – 
Children’s Services 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

133 - 138

RE-OPENED SESSION

15. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair)
                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors     A Barry, C Davies, D Hughes and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 were 
approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

1.2 In addition to preparing a Strategic Equality Plan the Equality Act 2010 and Public 
Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to prepare and publish an annual 
report every year noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including 
progress on delivering its Equality Objectives.

1.3 Through the Strategic Equality Plan and it’s Equality Objectives the Annual Equality 
Report for 2017-2018, attached as Appendix 1, is testament to the Council’s 
ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our Equalities Vision for 
Merthyr Tydfil, which is “a place where diversity is valued and respected and 
everyone can participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential 
free from discrimination and prejudice.”

1.4 The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals and link to the five ways of working (the 
Sustainable Development Principle) that are set out in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

1.5 Based on the progress reported in the Annual Equality Report, outcomes have 
been assessed as Good - many strengths and no important areas requiring 
significant improvement.

Date Written 21st February 2019
Report Author Kerry O’Donovan
Service Area Corporate Services
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 be approved.

2.2 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 be forwarded to Full Council 
as an Information Report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Equality Act 2010

3.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-
discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 
inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. 
The majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.

3.2 The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 
separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th 
April 2011.

3.3 The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:

 Age.
 Gender reassignment.
 Sex.
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality.
 Disability.
 Pregnancy and maternity.
 Sexual orientation.
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

 
3.4 It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to 

have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination.
 
3.5 The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying 

out a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 
through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The 
duty ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and 
the delivery of services and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 
outcomes for all.

3.6 Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct that is prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

Page 6



Specific duties in Wales

3.7 The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 
performance of the general duty and to aid transparency.

3.8 The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) 
(Wales) Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 
2011.

3.9 The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 
publish a Strategic Equality Plan by 2nd April 2012 that contained Equality 
Objectives.

3.10 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012.

Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020

3.11 The Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to 
review its Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives at least every four years.

3.12 As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that 
an Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s 
Ambition to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster 
good relations. The following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been 
developed:

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, 
flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination 
and prejudice.

3.13 This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in the table 
below) that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. The 
Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Full Council on 23rd March 
2016.

Themes Equality Objectives

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that 
their contribution is understood, recognised and used to help 
the Council understand and respond to the needs of its 
communities.

Equality 
Awareness 

Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role.

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor 
and publish equalities data on our employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and 
accessible services.

Page 7



Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.

Annual Reporting

3.14 The Council is also required to prepare and publish an annual report every year 
noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including progress on 
delivering its Equality Objectives.

4.0 ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT FOR 2017-2018

4.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 is attached as Appendix 1. 
Some of the key points to note include the following:

Equalities & Diversity and Armed Forces Champion

 In order to emphasise the importance of Equalities and Diversity and the Armed 
Forces Community Covenant across the Council:

o Councillor Kevin O’Neill (Leader of the Council) is the Council’s Equalities and 
Diversity Champion; and 

o Councillor Andrew Barry (Portfolio Member for Governance and Corporate 
Services) is the Council’s Armed Forces Champion.

Equality Impact Assessments and Integrated Impact Assessment

Equality Impact Assessments:

 In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council 
adopted an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process, which was a mandatory 
accompaniment to reports on the Council’s Change and Well-being Programme, 
and for Cabinet and Council. 

This demonstrated how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers 
considered Equality and Welsh language as part of their decision making.

Integrated Impact Assessment:

 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 (the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 

The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering 
and monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and 
how it is seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-
being of Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

o Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
o Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work 

could have on other services and organisations;
o Involving people in the decisions that affect them;

Page 8



o Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
o Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

The IIA (that was approved by Cabinet on 26th September 2018) has replaced the 
EqIA process, and incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, 
to support effective decision making and ensuring compliance with the following 
legislation:

o Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
o Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
o Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
o Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

The IIA has been applied to project concepts, business cases and projects as part 
of the Council’s Project Management Framework, and was rolled out for Council 
and Cabinet Reports from October 2018 onwards.

The IIA is supported by detailed guidance to support staff when completing the 
form, which is available on the Council’s intranet. 

All IIA forms are published on the Council’s website along with the Cabinet and 
Council Reports.

LGBT History Month

 This was the fourth year that the Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised 
outside the Civic Centre to celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
(LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s commitment to supporting and 
engaging with the LGBT community within Merthyr Tydfil. The event was attended 
by the Mayor, our local Member of Parliament, our local Assembly Member, 
Councillors and Council staff, South Wales Police and members of the Youth 
Cabinet and Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF).

It’s important to note that LGBT may also often be written as different acronyms; for 
example LGBTQ+ which stands for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and 
Queer (or Questioning) plus Others.

Pride Cymru 2017

 The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2017 for the second 
consecutive year, working with other Councils from across South Wales to engage 
with the LGBT community. The aim was to engage with the LGBT community to 
find out what issues are important to them, and as a result, improve the 
experiences of local LGBT people across South Wales when accessing public 
services.

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on the 
same day as Pride Cymru.

Page 9



Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance

 The Council has developed a Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance working 
in partnership with the Vale of Glamorgan Council. The aim the Toolkit and 
Guidance is to support transgender and gender questioning children and young 
people, which offers an opportunity to raise awareness of gender identity whilst 
providing support and guidance to create a positive and inclusive education. 

It is a valuable tool for all staff working with children and young people in Merthyr 
Tydfil that ensures transgender and gender questioning young people are 
supported in an appropriate, consistent and equal manner. 

This Toolkit and Guidance will enable schools to further embed the good work they 
are doing in this area. It highlights areas to consider when developing whole school 
policy and practice that will allow transgender or gender questioning children and 
young people to achieve at school. It can support the confidence of staff in 
supporting pupils and students by providing valuable, specific and practical 
information on how to more effectively support transgender and gender questioning 
children and young people. This guidance was welcomed by the Visible LGBT*+ 
Youth Group Safer Merthyr Tydfil.

insport Silver and Gold

insport Silver:

 In February 2017, the Council presented their insport Silver submission to the 
insport Development Panel. The Chief Executive, Disability Sport Development 
Officer and Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager delivered the presentation and 
the panel unanimously agreed on awarding insport Silver, making Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council one of just five Councils in Wales (at the time) to be at 
silver level.  

insport Gold:

 The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has received a presentation on the 
Council’s approach to insport Gold. The Corporate Leadership Team have fully 
endorsed the Council’s approach to insport Gold and are committed to supporting 
the development of insport evidence.

The Council’s Disability Sport Development Officer and Corporate Risk and 
Equalities Manager attended the insport Gold pre-panel in February 2018 to outline 
its plans for the Council’s insport Gold and for the Disability Sport Wales panel to 
sign off on the approach. To date, the Council is the only Local Authority to have 
completed this phase.

Significant work has also been put into the development of the new Disability Sport 
Merthyr Forum, a fully constituted third sector group made of 14 disabled members 
that will work alongside the Council to develop inclusive provision in the area.  The 
group was launched in April 2018.

A number of events have also taken place in 2017-2018.  The Disability Sport 
Wales (DSW) annual insport series event in Cardiff saw attendances from four 

Page 10



schools in Merthyr Tydfil on day one with community participants from Merthyr 
Tydfil attending the following day.  

2017 also saw the first Cwm Taf insport series event held in Rhondda Cynon Taf as 
a joint initiative between DSW, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and Rhonda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council.  Clubs and providers were split between 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf with Merthyr Boccia Club and Merthyr Town 
Football Club amongst Merthyr Tydfil providers supporting the event.

Training on Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011

 An equality training and awareness session have been provided to Councillors as 
part of the Council’s induction training programme. The training set out the role of 
the Equalities service, the benefits of Equalities and the requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011.

The Council’s Senior Leadership Team have also been provided with refresher 
training on the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011 as part of 
training on the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Integrated 
Impact Assessment.

Managers Academy – Unconscious Bias Module

 Between October 2017 and June 2018 the Council’s Senior Leadership Team 
attended a ten month Leadership and Management development programme with 
the aim of developing the capacity and capability of individual leaders and 
managers and making Merthyr Tydfil a place to be proud of.

Some of the topics covered over the entire programme included:  Strategic 
Leadership; Leading an Emotionally Intelligent Organisation; Resilience; The 
Trusted Leader; Change and Innovation; and Unconscious Bias. The final stage 
was the Ultimate Leadership Challenge whereby the whole group came together to 
work on real issues facing the Council to put together a clear action plan for 
improvements.

As mentioned above one of the modules was Unconscious Bias, where the group 
focused on ensuring that awareness is raised around our instincts and reactions 
which are inherited from our environments and embedded in our being, below the 
level of conscious decision. 

The module covered understanding the scientific roots of cognitive bias in decision-
making and exploring personality differences in decision-making.

Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training

 50 employees attended the Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training programme 
provided by the Council. The programme covered:

o The Signs and Symptoms.
o Diagnosis and Treatment.
o Risk Factors.
o What to do if you are concerned.

Page 11



Protected Characteristic Fact Sheets

 Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator, Business 
Change Department and in consultation with the Community Voice MAGNET Project 
(Merthyr Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together) fact sheets have 
been developed for each of the nine Protected Characteristics.

Each of the fact sheets include the following:

o Definitions of each of the Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.
o Key Statistics.
o Key Issues. 
o The importance of appropriate attitudes and behaviours in line with the different 

forms of Discrimination under the Equality Act 2010.
o Further Support and Advice.

The aim of the facts sheets are to:

o Improve knowledge of national and local equality issues by protected 
characteristic.

o Improve understanding of our customers.
o Promote equalities in the workplace.
o Act as supporting knowledge resources for staff when completing the Council’s 

Integrated Impact Assessment.

The fact sheets are available on the Council’s intranet for staff to access and will be 
will be used to provide Equality training for staff and Councillors.

Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries

Holocaust Memorial Day: 

 Holocaust Memorial Day was celebrated on the 27th January 2018 with a parade 
starting at the fountain in Merthyr Tydfil, through the town, then ending at the 
Holocaust Memorial Garden. Superintendent Phillip Ashby of South Wales Police 
laid a wreath at the garden before everyone made their way to St David’s Church 
for the annual memorial service. There were approximately 150 attendees. 

 In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library Service visited a number of 
schools and Scout groups to promote the Holocaust Memorial Day message, which 
was “The Power of Words.”

 Further funding was also obtained from the Council’s Regeneration Department to 
provide metal gates and railings around the Holocaust Memorial Garden. Over the 
year the garden has been tended by a group of local volunteers who have made 
vast improvements to the space, with planting and continuous maintenance. 

Community Groups:
 

 The community curling group that was set up last year has gone from strength to 
strength with its numbers doubling. The group have also added some new 
activities, including tennis and skittles. 

Page 12



 A successful luncheon club has also been set up aimed at socially isolated and 
library” Homelinks” service customers. These have proved to be successful and 
developed into bi-monthly lunches.

Classes and Courses:

 Many successful well-being courses were held at our Dowlais Library branch over 
the year including: 

o Dementia Support Group.
o Memory Boxes - Dementia Group.
o Mindfulness.
o Dementia Carers Support Group.
o Family Programme.
o Peer to Peer.
o Well-being Group.

Other:

 The Dowlais Old Age Pension (OAP) Group have continued their monthly social 
gathering at Dowlais Library, meeting up with friends for tea and a chat, and 
keeping up-to-date with local events.

 Treharris Library held a successful collection for the homeless in conjunction with 
the local Co-op store.

Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of Practice

 The Council has signed up to the Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of 
Practice. Modern Slavery, Blacklisting and Employment Practices have been 
incorporated into the Pre-qualification/Selection stage questionnaires for all 
applicable Tender activity. A working group will be seeking to develop commitments 
within the code of practice.

Armed Forces Community Covenant

 Free swimming for Armed Forces and Veterans is the latest initiative to be 
launched by the Welsh Government as part of its Package of Support for the 
Armed Forces Community. Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre and Aberfan Community 
Centre now offer free swimming during public swim times for armed service 
personnel and veterans, residing in Wales. The Council were awarded Bronze 
Armed Forces Covenant status in 2017 for providing this service.

An Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer was appointed in 2017 who is shared 
between Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council and the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

In January 2019 a Veterans Advice Officer was appointed, who is also shared 
between Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council. This Officer will be based at the Civic Centre in the One Stop 

Page 13



Shop twice a week on Tuesdays and Thursdays. Both these posts are paid for 
through the Armed Forces Covenant Fund. 

Welsh Language Promotional Strategy

 Welsh Language is a key element of the Council’s Equality agenda. This is 
reflected through the Council's Welsh Language Promotional Strategy, which was 
approved by Full Council on 22nd November 2017.

The Strategy sets out the following Welsh language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil:
 

“A place which promotes the use of the Welsh language and treats the Welsh and 
English languages on the basis of equality.

This will be achieved by enabling and encouraging:

o The broad provision of Welsh language education throughout the County 
Borough.

o The opportunities for people to use Welsh at work, at home and at play.
o The perception of languages as life skills, which enriches the lives of those who 

use them.
o People throughout the County Borough to feel pride in their language, and 

confidence to use it.

These are deliberately stretching ideals – they will not be achieved overnight, but 
over the long term; it is our vision to encourage a cultural change in the way that 
the two languages of Wales are perceived in this County Borough. We want to 
make a difference.”

The Welsh Language Standards require the Council to compile an Annual Report, 
in relation to each financial year, that deals with the way that it has complied with 
the Service Delivery, Policy Making and Operational Standards. 

The Council's Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2017-2018 was 
approved by Cabinet on 20th June 2018 and then subsequently published on the 
Council's website. 

Assessment of Performance

 Based on the comments above and the progress reported in Appendix A and B, 
outcomes have been assessed as Good - many strengths and no important areas 
requiring significant improvement.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding.

Page 14



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 notes progress across all aspects 
of the Council’s equalities work, including progress on delivering its Equality Objectives 
for 2016-2020. 

The Council’s Equality Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals.

The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 positively impacts on the Council’s 
Well-being Objectives, the five ways of working and the protected characteristics 
(including Welsh language).

No negative impacts have been identified.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE,

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 15



APPENDIX 1 

ANNUAL EQUALITY 
REPORT FOR 2017-2018

 

 

Page 16



SECTION 1

FOREWORD

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is pleased to introduce the second Annual Report 
for its Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. This Strategic Equality Plan was prepared in 
line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 
2011 and was approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

Through the Strategic Equality Plan this Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018 is 
testament to the Council’s ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our 
Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil, which is:

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice.

The Council is working towards delivering this Vision through our role as a community 
leader, service provider, commissioner, employer and working in partnership to reduce 
inequalities and to improve the well-being of the County Borough.

I commend this Annual Report to you and look forward to sharing the progress that we 
make towards achieving fairness in equality in the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil.     
                                      

Councillor Kevin O’Neill
Leader and Equalities & Diversity Champion for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council

Page 17



SECTION 2

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Equality Act 2010

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-
discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 
inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. The 
majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.

The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 
separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th April 
2011.

The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:

 Age.
 Gender reassignment.
 Sex.
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality.
 Disability.
 Pregnancy and maternity.
 Sexual orientation.
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to have 
due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination.
 
What is the general duty?

The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out a 
public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society through 
advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty ensures that 
equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the delivery of services and 
that they are kept under review. This will achieve better outcomes for all.

Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
that is prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

 
Specific duties in Wales

The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 
performance of the general duty and to aid transparency.

Page 18



What are the specific duties?

The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 2011.

The specific duties in Wales cover:

 Objectives.
 Strategic Equality Plans.
 Engagement.
 Assessing impact.
 Equality information.
 Employment information.
 Pay differences.
 Staff training.
 Procurement.
 Annual reporting.
 Publishing.
 Welsh Ministers’ reporting.
 Review.
 Accessibility.

Strategic Equality Plan

The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 
publish a Strategic Equality Plan by 2nd April 2012 that contained Equality Objectives.

The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012.

The Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to review 
its Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives at least every four years.

As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that an 
Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s Ambition 
to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster good relations. The 
following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been developed:

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, 
flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination 
and prejudice.

This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in the table below) 
that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. The Strategic 
Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

Themes Equality Objectives

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that their 
contribution is understood, recognised and used to help the Council 

Page 19



understand and respond to the needs of its communities.
Equality 

Awareness 
Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role.

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and 
publish equalities data on our employees and customers, which will 
help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and accessible 
services.

Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.

These Equality Objectives will be delivered through an Action Plan that is set out in the 
Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. Progress against delivering the Action Plan for 
2017-2018 is attached as Appendix A.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 support the Council’s Well-
being Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals (shown in the diagram below) and link 
to the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development Principle) that are set out in the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Page 20



The table in Appendix D demonstrates how the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2016-
2020 link to the following:

 The seven Well-being Goals and the five ways of working that are set out in the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

Page 21



SECTION 3

RELEVANT INFORMATION

The following relevant information was used to inform the review of the Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2012-2016 and to produce the Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020:

 The Council’s Annual Equality Monitoring Reports.
 Welsh Local Government Association Equality Improvement Peer Review that was 

carried out at the Council in June 2013 and a Peer Review follow up that was 
undertaken by Internal Audit in December 2014.

 Engagement with the Strategic Equality Plan Task and Finish Group.
 Equality Objectives from other Welsh Councils and public sector organisations.
 Guidance for the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Reports and data from the MAGNET Portfolio (Merthyr Achieving Greater 

Networking and Engagement Together).
 Hate Crime and Domestic Abuse Data.
 Community Cohesion National Delivery Plan.
 Is Wales Fairer? Report; Emerging Challenges.
 Disability Wales, Accessible Rail Services Policy, 2010.
 Office for National Statistics, Population Estimates by Local Authority and Age, 

2015.
 Marriage and Civil Partnership Statistics, 2011 Census.
 Office for National Statistics, Conception Statistics, 2013.
 Office for National Statistics, Population Estimates by Local Authority and Ethnicity, 

2011.
 Religion and Belief Statistics, 2011 Census.
 Integrated Household Survey, Welsh Government, Sexual Identity by Area and 

Identity Status, 2013.
 Office for National Statistics, Population Estimates by Local Authority and Gender, 

2014.

Page 22



SECTION 4

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT - SUMMARY OF PROGRESS AGAINST 
DELIVERING THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITY OBJECTIVES

Progress against delivering the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2017-18 can be seen in 
Appendix A of this Annual Report. Progress on other Equality Developments can be seen 
in Appendix B.

For information, however, some examples of the progress that is set out in Appendix A 
and B is shown below: 

Equalities & Diversity and Armed Forces Champion

 In order to emphasise the importance of Equalities and Diversity and the Armed 
Forces Community Covenant across the Council:

o Councillor Kevin O’Neill (Leader of the Council) is the Council’s Equalities and 
Diversity Champion; and 

o Councillor Andrew Barry (Portfolio Member for Governance and Corporate 
Services) is the Council’s Armed Forces Champion.

Equality Impact Assessments and Integrated Impact Assessment

Equality Impact Assessments:

In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council adopted an 
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process, which was a mandatory accompaniment to 
reports on the Council’s Change and Well-being Programme, and for Cabinet and Council. 

This demonstrated how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers considered 
Equality and Welsh language as part of their decision making.

Integrated Impact Assessment:

In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
(the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 

The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and 
monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how it is 
seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Merthyr 
Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work 

could have on other services and organisations;
 Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

Page 23



The IIA (that was approved by Cabinet on 26th September 2018) has replaced the EqIA 
process, and incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, to support effective 
decision making and ensuring compliance with the following legislation:

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
 Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

The IIA has been applied to project concepts, business cases and projects as part of the 
Council’s Project Management Framework, and was rolled out for Council and Cabinet 
Reports from October 2018 onwards.

The IIA is supported by detailed guidance to support staff when completing the form, 
which is available on the Council’s intranet. 

All IIA forms are published on the Council’s website along with the Cabinet and Council 
Reports.

LGBT History Month

This was the fourth year that the Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised outside the 
Civic Centre to celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) History month 
as part of the Council’s commitment to supporting and engaging with the LGBT 
community within Merthyr Tydfil. The event was attended by the Mayor, our local Member 
of Parliament, our local Assembly Member, Councillors and Council staff, South Wales 
Police and members of the Youth Cabinet and Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum 
(MTBWYF).

It’s important to note that LGBT may also often be written as different acronyms; for 
example LGBTQ+ which stands for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (or 
Questioning) plus Others.

Pride Cymru 2017

The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2017 for the second 
consecutive year, working with other Councils from across South Wales to engage with 
the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) community. The aim was to engage 
with the LGBT community to find out what issues are important to them, and as a result, 
improve the experiences of local LGBT people across South Wales when accessing public 
services.

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on the same 
day as Pride Cymru.

Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance

The Council has developed a Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance working in 
partnership with the Vale of Glamorgan Council. The aim the Toolkit and Guidance is to 
support transgender and gender questioning children and young people, which offers an 

Page 24



opportunity to raise awareness of gender identity whilst providing support and guidance to 
create a positive and inclusive education. 

It is a valuable tool for all staff working with children and young people in Merthyr Tydfil 
that ensures transgender and gender questioning young people are supported in an 
appropriate, consistent and equal manner. 

This Toolkit and Guidance will enable schools to further embed the good work they are 
doing in this area. It highlights areas to consider when developing whole school policy and 
practice that will allow transgender or gender questioning children and young people to 
achieve at school. It can support the confidence of staff in supporting pupils and students 
by providing valuable, specific and practical information on how to more effectively support 
transgender and gender questioning children and young people. This guidance was 
welcomed by the Visible LGBT*+ Youth Group Safer Merthyr Tydfil.

insport Silver and Gold

insport Silver:

In February 2017, the Council presented their insport Silver submission to the insport 
Development Panel. The Chief Executive, Disability Sport Development Officer and 
Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager delivered the presentation and the panel 
unanimously agreed on awarding insport Silver, making Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council one of just five Councils in Wales (at the time) to be at silver level.  

insport Gold:

The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has received a presentation on the Council’s 
approach to insport Gold. The Corporate Leadership Team have fully endorsed the 
Council’s approach to insport Gold and are committed to supporting the development of 
insport evidence.

The Council’s Disability Sport Development Officer and Corporate Risk and Equalities 
Manager attended the insport Gold pre-panel in February 2018 to outline its plans for the 
Council’s insport Gold and for the Disability Sport Wales panel to sign off on the approach. 
To date, the Council is the only Local Authority to have completed this phase.

Significant work has also been put into the development of the new Disability Sport 
Merthyr Forum, a fully constituted third sector group made of 14 disabled members that 
will work alongside the Council to develop inclusive provision in the area.  The group was 
launched in April 2018.

A number of events have also taken place in 2017-18.  The Disability Sport Wales (DSW) 
annual insport series event in Cardiff saw attendances from four schools in Merthyr Tydfil 
on day one with community participants from Merthyr Tydfil attending the following day.  

2017 also saw the first Cwm Taf insport series event held in Rhondda Cynon Taf as a joint 
initiative between DSW, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and Rhonda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council. Clubs and providers were split between Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf with Merthyr Boccia Club and Merthyr Town Football Club amongst 
Merthyr Tydfil providers supporting the event.

Page 25



Training on Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011

An equality training and awareness session have been provided to Councillors as part of 
the Council’s induction training programme. The training set out the role of the Equalities 
service, the benefits of Equalities and the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and 
Public Sector Equality Duty 2011.

The Council’s Senior Leadership Team have also been provided with refresher training on 
the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011 as part of training on the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Integrated Impact Assessment.

Managers Academy – Unconscious Bias Module

Between October 2017 and June 2018 the Council’s Senior Leadership Team attended a 
ten month Leadership and Management development programme with the aim of 
developing the capacity and capability of individual leaders and managers and making 
Merthyr Tydfil a place to be proud of.

Some of the topics covered over the entire programme included:  Strategic Leadership; 
Leading an Emotionally Intelligent Organisation; Resilience; The Trusted Leader; Change 
and Innovation; and Unconscious Bias. The final stage was the Ultimate Leadership 
Challenge whereby the whole group came together to work on real issues facing the 
Council to put together a clear action plan for improvements.

As mentioned above one of the modules was Unconscious Bias, where the group focused 
on ensuring that awareness is raised around our instincts and reactions which are 
inherited from our environments and embedded in our being, below the level of conscious 
decision. 

The module covered understanding the scientific roots of cognitive bias in decision-
making and exploring personality differences in decision-making.

Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training

50 employees attended the Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training programme provided by 
the Council. The programme covered:

 The Signs and Symptoms.
 Diagnosis and Treatment.
 Risk Factors.
 What to do if you are concerned.

Protected Characteristic Fact Sheets

Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator, Business Change 
Department and in consultation with the Community Voice MAGNET Project (Merthyr 
Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together) fact sheets have been developed 
for each of the nine Protected Characteristics.

Each of the fact sheets include the following:

 Definitions of each of the Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.

Page 26



 Key Statistics.
 Key Issues. 
 The importance of appropriate attitudes and behaviours in line with the different 

forms of Discrimination under the Equality Act 2010.
 Further Support and Advice.

The aim of the facts sheets are to:

 Improve knowledge of national and local equality issues by protected 
characteristic.

 Improve understanding of our customers.
 Promote equalities in the workplace.
 Act as supporting knowledge resources for staff when completing the Council’s 

Integrated Impact Assessment.

The fact sheets are available on the Council’s intranet for staff to access and will be will be 
used to provide Equality training for staff and Councillors.

Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries

Holocaust Memorial Day: 

 Holocaust Memorial Day was celebrated on the 27th January 2018 with a parade 
starting at the fountain in Merthyr Tydfil, through the town, then ending at the 
Holocaust Memorial Garden. Superintendent Phillip Ashby of South Wales Police 
laid a wreath at the garden before everyone made their way to St David’s Church 
for the annual memorial service. There were approximately 150 attendees. 

 In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library Service visited a number of 
schools and Scout groups to promote the Holocaust Memorial Day message, 
which was “The Power of Words.”

 Further funding was also obtained from the Council’s Regeneration Department to 
provide metal gates and railings around the Holocaust Memorial Garden. Over the 
year the garden has been tended by a group of local volunteers who have made 
vast improvements to the space, with planting and continuous maintenance. 

Community Groups:
 

 The community curling group that was set up last year has gone from strength to 
strength with its numbers doubling. The group have also added some new 
activities, including tennis and skittles. 

 A successful luncheon club has also been set up aimed at socially isolated and 
library” Homelinks” service customers. These have proved to be successful and 
developed into bi-monthly lunches.

Classes and Courses:

 Many successful well-being courses were held at our Dowlais Library branch over 
the year including: 

o Dementia Support Group.

Page 27



o Memory Boxes - Dementia Group.
o Mindfulness.
o Dementia Carers Support Group.
o Family Programme.
o Peer to Peer.
o Well-being Group.

Other:

 The Dowlais Old Age Pension (OAP) Group have continued their monthly social 
gathering at Dowlais Library, meeting up with friends for tea and a chat, and 
keeping up-to-date with local events.

 Treharris Library held a successful collection for the homeless in conjunction with 
the local Co-op store.

Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of Practice

The Council has signed up to the Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of Practice.  
Modern Slavery, Blacklisting and Employment Practices have been incorporated into the 
Pre-qualification/Selection stage questionnaires for all applicable Tender activity. A 
working group will be seeking to develop commitments within the code of practice.

Armed Forces Community Covenant

Free swimming for Armed Forces and Veterans is the latest initiative to be launched by 
the Welsh Government as part of its Package of Support for the Armed Forces 
Community. Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre and Aberfan Community Centre now offer free 
swimming during public swim times for armed service personnel and veterans, residing in 
Wales. The Council were awarded Bronze Armed Forces Covenant status in 2017 for 
providing this service.

An Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer was appointed in 2017 who is shared between 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and 
the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

In January 2019 a Veterans Advice Officer was appointed, who is also shared between 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
This Officer will be based at the Civic Centre in the One Stop Shop twice a week on 
Tuesdays and Thursdays. Both these posts are paid for through the Armed Forces 
Covenant Fund. 

Welsh Language Promotional Strategy

Welsh Language is a key element of the Council’s Equality agenda. This is reflected 
through the Council's Welsh Language Promotional Strategy, which was approved by Full 
Council on 22nd November 2017.

The Strategy sets out the following Welsh language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil:
 

“A place which promotes the use of the Welsh language and treats the Welsh and 
English languages on the basis of equality.

This will be achieved by enabling and encouraging:

Page 28



 The broad provision of Welsh language education throughout the County Borough.
 The opportunities for people to use Welsh at work, at home and at play.
 The perception of languages as life skills, which enriches the lives of those who use 

them.
 People throughout the County Borough to feel pride in their language, and 

confidence to use it.

These are deliberately stretching ideals – they will not be achieved overnight, but over 
the long term; it is our vision to encourage a cultural change in the way that the two 
languages of Wales are perceived in this County Borough. We want to make a 
difference.”

The Welsh Language Standards require the Council to compile an Annual Report, in 
relation to each financial year, that deals with the way that it has complied with the Service 
Delivery, Policy Making and Operational Standards. 

The Council's Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2017-2018 was approved by 
Cabinet on 20th June 2018 and then subsequently published on the Council's website. 

Assessment of Performance

Based on the comments above and the progress reported in Appendix A and B, outcomes 
have been assessed as Good - many strengths and no important areas requiring 
significant improvement.

Page 29



SECTION 5

ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT

Equality Impact Assessments

In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council adopted an 
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process, which was a mandatory accompaniment to 
reports on the Council’s Change and Well-being Programme, and for Cabinet and Council. 

This demonstrated how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers considered 
Equality and Welsh language as part of their decision making.

Integrated Impact Assessment

In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
(the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 

The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and 
monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how it is 
seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Merthyr 
Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work 

could have on other services and organisations;
 Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

The IIA (that was approved by Cabinet on 26th September 2018) has replaced the EqIA 
process, and incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, to support effective 
decision making and ensuring compliance with the following legislation:

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
 Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

The IIA has been applied to project concepts, business cases and projects as part of the 
Council’s Project Management Framework, and was rolled out for Council and Cabinet 
Reports from October 2018 onwards.

The IIA is supported by detailed guidance to support staff when completing the form, 
which is available on the Council’s intranet. 

Publishing Results

All IIA forms are published on the Council’s website along with the Cabinet and Council 
Reports. 

Page 30



SECTION 6

EMPLOYEE AWARENESS

Information on the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty is available on the 
Council’s Intranet and Internet.

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part its Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2016-2020, which will support the Council in continuing to raise awareness about 
Equalities:

 To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that staff 
at all levels, Councillors and partners recognise and incorporate Equalities as part 
of their role.

Progress on this Equality Objective can be found in Appendix A.

Training and Continued Professional Development

Training and Continued Professional Development is a key element of the Council’s 
Performance Management Framework for Performance Appraisals and One to Ones. This 
enables employee training needs for Equalities to be identified and addressed.

Page 31



SECTION 7

WORKFORCE DATA

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part its Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2016-2020, which supports the Council in understanding the profile of its 
employees:

 Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and publish 
equalities data on our employees and customers, which will help the Council to 
ensure that it provides fair and accessible services.

Progress on this Equality Objective can be found in Appendix A.

Workforce data for the Council as at 31st March 2018 is attached as Appendix C.

Page 32



SECTION 8

PROCUREMENT

The Council considers it essential that all organisations wishing to provide goods or 
services on its behalf are able to demonstrate that all reasonable and practicable steps 
are taken to allow equal access and equal treatment in employment, service delivery and 
training for all. 

The Council uses the Welsh Government’s standard pre-qualification process called the 
Supplier Qualification Information Database (SQuID) and the European Single 
Procurement Document (ESPD), but has added its own specific equalities related 
questions to it. The Council’s standard Invitation to Tender (ITT) template includes a 
specific equalities statement with the inclusion of contract clauses relating to the Equality 
Act 2010 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. Equalities and Welsh 
Language related clauses to its standard terms and conditions for contracts are added 
when required. 

The Council underpins the principles of the Welsh Procurement Policy Statement 2015 
(WPPS) and its ten main themes through a fit for purpose procurement strategy that 
provides strategic direction and coordination to comply with corporate priorities and the 
WPPS. The WPPS includes themes such as Economic, Social and Environmental 
Impacts, Community Benefits and Open, Accessible Competition.

The Equalities and Welsh Language elements of the Procurement Process in relation to 
Tendering and Request for Quote Documentation have been reviewed in line with Equality 
Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011.

These documents support the Council in ensuring that all third party suppliers 
demonstrate compliance with these requirements, where relevant to the nature and type 
of goods and services being provided on its behalf.

The Council has also signed up to the Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of 
Practice. Modern Slavery, Blacklisting and Employment Practices have been incorporated 
into the Pre-qualification/Selection stage questionnaires for all applicable Tender activity. 
A working group will be seeking to develop commitments within the code of practice.

Page 33



SECTION 9

ARMED FORCES COMMUNITY COVENANT

The Council signed the Armed Forces Community Covenant in May 2013. The Council’s 
pledge to the Armed Forces Community Covenant recognises the dual respect between 
the Council, its partner agencies, its communities and our Armed Forces personnel 
(serving and retired) and their families. Councillor Andrew Barry was appointed as Armed 
Forces Champion in 2017.

The Council supports an Armed Forces Support Group, which is run by local members of 
the Royal British Legion (Dowlais and Town Branches). Membership also includes ex 
naval officers and Welsh Guards. 

A regional board has been set up between Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, which is the Cwm Taf Community 
Covenant Panel (referred to as the CCP). The Panel meets on a quarterly basis, and the 
main purpose is to discuss and assess any Covenant funding applications that are 
received.

Membership of the CCP comprises of:

 Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Councils (Armed Forces 
Champions, lead officers and other representatives).

 Cwm Taf University Health Board.
 Royal British Legion.
 SSAFA.
 South Wales Police.
 Housing Associations.
 160 Infantry Brigade & HQ Wales (Engagement).
 Interlink and Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil.
 Department for Work and Pensions (Job Centre Plus).
 Navy, Army and RAF Family Federations.
 3 Royal Welsh.
 Alabare Homes for Veterans.
 Further Education and Higher Education Providers.
 Probation Service.
 Business – member of the Regional Employer Engagement Group (REEG).

A Guide to Services for Armed Forces Personnel and their family’s booklet has been 
published and distributed widely across the County Borough. The booklet includes 
contacts for Health, Housing, Leisure, Education, etc.  The Council’s web site has been 
updated and includes all information on services available. 

Free swimming for Armed Forces and Veterans is the latest initiative to be launched by 
the Welsh Government as part of its Package of Support for the Armed Forces 
Community. Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre and Aberfan Community Centre now offer free 
swimming during public swim times for armed service personnel and veterans, residing in 
Wales. The Council were awarded Bronze Armed Forces Covenant status in 2017 for 
providing this service.

Page 34



An Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer was appointed in 2017 who is shared between 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and 
the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

In January 2019 a Veterans Advice Officer was appointed, who is also shared between 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
This Officer will be based at the Civic Centre in the One Stop Shop twice a week on 
Tuesdays and Thursdays. Both these posts are paid for through the Armed Forces 
Covenant Fund.

Page 35



SECTION 10

WELSH LANGUAGE

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 has replaced the Welsh Language Act 1993 
and places an obligation on public sector bodies to comply with Welsh Language 
Standards. Essentially, the Measure has the same requirement as the Welsh Language 
Act: to treat the Welsh and English languages on the basis of equality in the 
provision of services to the public in Wales.

Welsh Language Promotional Strategy

Welsh Language is a key element of the Council’s Equality agenda. This is reflected 
through the Council's Welsh Language Promotional Strategy, which was approved by Full 
Council on 22nd November 2017.

The Strategy sets out the following Welsh language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil:
 

“A place which promotes the use of the Welsh language and treats the Welsh and 
English languages on the basis of equality.

This will be achieved by enabling and encouraging:

 The broad provision of Welsh language education throughout the County Borough.
 The opportunities for people to use Welsh at work, at home and at play.
 The perception of languages as life skills, which enriches the lives of those who use 

them.
 People throughout the County Borough to feel pride in their language, and 

confidence to use it.

These are deliberately stretching ideals – they will not be achieved overnight, but over 
the long term; it is our vision to encourage a cultural change in the way that the two 
languages of Wales are perceived in this County Borough. We want to make a 
difference.”

The Welsh Language Standards require the Council to compile an Annual Report, in 
relation to each financial year, that deals with the way that it has complied with the Service 
Delivery, Policy Making and Operational Standards. 

The Council's Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2017-2018 was approved by 
Cabinet on 20th June 2018 and then subsequently published on the Council's website. 
The Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2017-2018 can be accessed by 
following the link: Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2017-2018

Page 36

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s40593/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s40593/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s40593/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


SECTION 11

CONTACT INFORMATION

How to contact us

If you would like a copy of this Annual Report in any other format or translated into another 
language, please contact:

Mr Kerry O’Donovan
Corporate Risk & Equalities Manager
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre
Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN
Tel: (01685) 725298
E-Mail: equalities@merthyr.gov.uk
Council’s website: www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 37

mailto:equalities@merthyr.gov.uk
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


APPENDIX A
PROGRESS AGAINST DELIVERING

EQUALITY OBJECTIVES FOR 2016-2020

UPDATE FOR 2017-2018

Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil

“A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice.”

The Council will work towards achieving this Vision through our role as a community 
leader, service provider, commissioner and employer, and we will work in partnership to 
reduce inequalities and to improve the well-being of the County Borough.

This Vision will be delivered through the following Equality Objectives for 2016-2020:

Themes Equality Objectives

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that their 
contribution is understood, recognised and used to help the Council 
understand and respond to the needs of its communities.

Equality 
Awareness 

Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities 
so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners recognise and 
incorporate Equalities as part of their role.

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and 
publish equalities data on our employees and customers, which will 
help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and accessible 
services.

Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.

Page 38



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 1: COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

MEASURES

1. Residents think the Local Authority provides high quality services (Source: National Survey for Wales):
 
Response 2012/13

(Sample size: 
14,400)

2013/14
(Sample size: 

14,600)

2014/15
(Sample size: 

14,100)

2015/16 2016/17
(Sample size: 

10,300)

2017/18 

Agree 46% 53% 43% 38%
Neither Agree nor 
Disagree

23% 18% 20% 28%

Disagree 30% 29% 37%

There was no 
National 

Survey for 
Wales in 2015-

16
34%

This question 
wasn’t asked in 

2017/18

2. Residents think the Local Authority is good at letting people know how it is performing (Source: National Survey for Wales):

Response 2012/13
(Sample size: 

14,300) 

2013/14
(Sample size: 

14,400)

2014/15
(Sample size: 

13,800)

2015/16 2016/17
(Sample size: 

9,950)

2017/18

Agree 37% 36% 37% 34%
Neither Agree nor 
Disagree

21% 16% 15% 21%

Disagree 42% 48% 48%

There was no 
National 

Survey for 
Wales in 2015-

16
45%

This question 
wasn’t asked in 

2017/18

3. Residents think they can influence decisions affecting the local area (Source: National Survey for Wales):

Response 2012/13
(Sample size: 

14,400)

2013/14
(Sample size: 

14,500)

2014/15
(Sample size: 

13,900)

2015/16 2016/17
(Sample size: 

10,050)

2017/18

Agree 23% 25% 19% 23%
Neither Agree nor 
Disagree

24% 19% 21% 23%

Disagree 53% 57% 60%

There was no 
National 

Survey for 
Wales in 2015-

16
54%

This question 
wasn’t asked in 

2017/18

P
age 39



PROGRESS ON ACTIONS

Council’s Communication and Consultation Strategy

A Communication and Consultation Strategy has been developed as a Quality Improvement Theme. A Reputation Management Action Plan has 
also been developed. The Strategy is currently being reviewed to incorporate changes to the Council’s Vision. 

The Communication and Consultation Strategy will deliver the following:

1. Provide clear leadership, having clarity about what the Council stands for and making sure it is understood by the whole organisation.
2. Continue to promote the Council’s brand which provides a clear sense of purpose and embodies the values.
3. Build upon our drive to communicate and engage strategically so we have the right skills to improve the reputation.

An annual Resident's Satisfaction Survey is also issued across the County Borough to capture views and satisfaction rates on a wide range of 
issues and services relevant to Merthyr Tydfil. The results of the survey will help to shape future service delivery across the County Borough.

The Council is also developing a Social Media Strategy to boost visibility and customer engagement.

Cwm Taf Public Engagement Strategy

The Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership Board (SPB), with the Third Sector, has been tasked with developing a more innovative, proactive approach, 
to involving and listening to individuals, service users and communities. This piece of work needs to be fully collaborative and not driven by single 
agency mechanisms and is therefore, being carried out through the Cwm Taf Information, Communication and Engagement / Involvement (ICE) 
Group.

An engagement and consultation plan was in place during the development of the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan which was published in May 2018. 

This has since been reviewed and a Cwm Taf Public Services Board ICE Strategy is being developed to ensure the approach remains fit for 
purpose in the delivery phase of the Plan.  

In meeting the Sustainable Development Principles (five ways of working), the PSB will continue to involve communities in informing, shaping 
and implementing plans through an ongoing conversation. The PSB will involve people with lived experiences to inform its delivery moving 
forward.

P
age 40



LGBT History Month

This was the fourth year that the Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised outside the Civic Centre to celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s commitment to supporting and engaging with the LGBT community within Merthyr 
Tydfil. The event was attended by the Mayor, our local Member of Parliament, our local Assembly Member, Councillors and Council staff, South 
Wales Police and members of the Youth Cabinet and Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF).

It’s important to note that LGBT may also often be written as different acronyms; for example LGBTQ+ which stands for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender and Queer (or Questioning) plus Others.

Pride Cymru 2017

The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2017 for the second consecutive year, working with other Councils from across South 
Wales to engage with the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) community. The aim was to engage with the LGBT community to find 
out what issues are important to them, and as a result, improve the experiences of local LGBT people across South Wales when accessing 
public services.

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on the same day as Pride Cymru.

Disability Sport Wales insport Standards

insport Ribbon and Bronze:

insport Ribbon and Bronze levels were achieved in 2014, with Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council being one of the first two Councils to 
achieve the Bronze level in Wales. 

insport Silver:

In February 2017, the Council presented their insport Silver submission to the insport Development Panel. The Chief Executive, Disability Sport 
Development Officer and Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager delivered the presentation and the panel unanimously agreed on awarding 
insport Silver, making Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council one of just five Councils in Wales (at the time) to be at silver level.  

insport Gold:

The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has received a presentation on the Council’s approach to insport Gold. The Corporate Leadership 
Team have fully endorsed the Council’s approach to insport Gold and are committed to supporting the development of insport evidence.

P
age 41



The Council’s Disability Sport Development Officer and Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager attended the insport Gold pre-panel in February 
2018 to outline its plans for the Council’s insport Gold and for the Disability Sport Wales panel to sign off on the approach. To date, the Council is 
the only Local Authority to have completed this phase.

Significant work has also been put into the development of the new Disability Sport Merthyr Forum, a fully constituted third sector group made of 
14 disabled members that will work alongside the Council to develop inclusive provision in the area.  The group was launched in April 2018.

A number of events have also taken place in 2017-2018. The Disability Sport Wales (DSW) annual insport series event in Cardiff saw 
attendances from four schools in Merthyr Tydfil on day one with community participants from Merthyr Tydfil attending the following day.  

2017 also saw the first Cwm Taf insport series event held in Rhondda Cynon Taf as a joint initiative between DSW, Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council and Rhonda Cynon Taf County Borough Council. Clubs and providers were split between Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon 
Taf with Merthyr Boccia Club and Merthyr Town Football Club amongst Merthyr Tydfil providers supporting the event.

Community First

The Council was charged with identifying and agreeing the legacy arrangements of Communities First, following the announcement of the 
phasing out of the programme. This included deciding on programmes of delivery to be retained or new programmes of delivery to be supported 
in line with the needs of the community and the Well-being Assessment.

An extensive consultation both with partners and the community was undertaken to identify the legacy arrangements.

In line with the agreed report to Council legacy arrangements were implemented and continue to be delivered against as the grant enters its 
second and final year:

 Invested in the Community Zone pilot in the Gurnos area with a community hub now in existence. Members of the community have been 
engaged and sit on the Community Zone Board and are beginning to influence developments across the community

 Play and youth provision in the Gurnos, Dowlais and Gellideg continues to be delivered enabling young people to develop as individuals 
and to link with the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) programme to increase young people’s involvement in local 
democratic processes. 

 Continuation of the Domestic Violence awareness raising programme in schools across the County Borough.
 Early language development opportunities are now available to families identified as high need outside of Flying Start areas, although this 

has become a County Borough wide approach.

EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 2: EQUALITY AWARENESS RAISING

MEASURES

P
age 42



Measures 2017/18
1. The number of staff, Councillors and partner organisations who 

have received training in Equalities (Source: Council data).
Training on Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011

 11 Councillors (Induction Training)
 26 staff (Senior Leadership Team)

Managers Academy – Unconscious Bias Module
 15 staff (Senior Leadership Team)

Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training
 50 staff.

Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Course:

 The Council has been continuing to roll out the e-learning 
module of Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Course. Currently 83% of staff have completed 
the module

2. Number of different training opportunities provided (Source: 
Council data).

Based on progress on the actions below 7 different training 
opportunities have been provided.

3. Number of disciplinaries, whistleblowing and grievances related to 
equality issues (Source: Council data).

There have been no disciplinary, whistleblowing or grievances related 
to equality issues.

PROGRESS ON ACTIONS

Training on Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 2011

An equality training and awareness session have been provided to Councillors as part of the Council’s induction training programme. The training 
set out the role of the Equalities service, the benefits of Equalities and the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 
2011.

The Council’s Senior Leadership Team have also been provided with refresher training on the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 
2011 as part of training on the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Integrated Impact Assessment.

Managers Academy – Unconscious Bias Module

P
age 43



Between October 2017 and June 2018 the Council’s Senior Leadership Team attended a ten month Leadership and Management 
development programme with the aim of developing the capacity and capability of individual leaders and managers and making Merthyr 
Tydfil a place to be proud of.

Some of the topics covered over the entire programme included:  Strategic Leadership; Leading an Emotionally Intelligent Organisation; 
Resilience; The Trusted Leader; Change and Innovation; and Unconscious Bias. The final stage was the Ultimate Leadership Challenge whereby 
the whole group came together to work on real issues facing the Council to put together a clear action plan for improvements.

As mentioned above one of the modules was Unconscious Bias, where the group focused on ensuring that awareness is raised around our 
instincts and reactions which are inherited from our environments and embedded in our being, below the level of conscious decision. 

The module covered understanding the scientific roots of cognitive bias in decision-making and exploring personality differences in decision-
making.

Equality Training through Sport Based Courses:

 Much of the work during 2017/18 focused on consultation with community groups and partners ahead of attending the insport pre-panel in 
early 2018.

 Work was undertaken with the University of South Wales (USW) in early 2018 supporting sports students to undertake Disability Inclusion 
Training. Alongside this, the USW will be taking on the licence to deliver the course themselves, embedding it in to its Sports Coaching 
Module.

 Students from the College Merthyr Tydfil were supported with informal disability sport workshops. This was ahead of more significant joint 
work in 2018-19.

E-learning Platform - Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Course

 The Council has been continuing to roll out the e-learning module of Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Course. Currently 83% of staff have completed the module. The Council is continuing to promote completion of this and will use the 
eLearning facility to roll out further topics such as Safeguarding.

Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training

P
age 44



50 employees attended the Ovarian Cancer Awareness Training programme provided by the Council. The programme covered:

 The Signs and Symptoms.
 Diagnosis and Treatment.
 Risk Factors.
 What to do if you are concerned.

Human Resources Policies

The Council has a number of HR Policies in place, including the following:

 Staff Handbook.
 Dignity and Respect at Work.
 Code of Conduct.
 Disciplinary.
 Grievance.
 Whistleblowing.
 Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.
 Workforce Equality Policy.

These Policies are regularly reviewed in line with best practice and legislation. The HR team are currently considering a suite of ‘statutory / 
mandatory training’ for all of its managers. These policies are designed in consultation with staff and their trade union representatives.  

The HR Operational team adopt a coaching and mentoring style of delivery in supporting managers to understand their responsibilities. In 
addition, the HR department are currently working on producing a training plan on these policies to support current and future people managers. 
These will be offered as ‘bolt on’ modules to the existing Managers Academy programme.

The Action plan will include a blended style of learning and development training activity including coaching, mentoring, and online – e-learning.

P
age 45



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 3: UNDERSTANDING OUR STAFF AND COMMUNITIES

MEASURES

Measures 2017/18
1. The Council receives registration as a “Two Ticks” Equal 

Opportunity Employer (Source: Department for Work and 
Pensions).

In October 2018 the Council renewed membership to the Disability 
Confident Scheme introduced by the Department for Work and 
Pensions.

The award certifies that the Council is a Disability Confident 
Committed Employer, which demonstrates the Council’s commitment 
to recruiting, retaining and developing disabled staff.

2. An increase in the number of employees disclosing personal data 
to allow the Council to be sensitive to and meet their needs 
(Source: Council data).

The Council has received a 94.15% return rate of equalities 
information from staff.

This compares to 18% previously across both Council and School 
staff.

PROGRESS ON ACTIONS

Protected Characteristic Fact Sheets

Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator, Business Change Department and in consultation with the Community 
Voice MAGNET Project (Merthyr Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together) fact sheets have been developed for each of the 
nine Protected Characteristics.

Each of the fact sheets include the following:

 Definitions of each of the Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.
 Key Statistics.
 Key Issues. 
 The importance of appropriate attitudes and behaviours in line with the different forms of Discrimination under the Equality Act 2010.
 Further Support and Advice.

The aim of the facts sheets are to:

 Improve knowledge of national and local equality issues by protected characteristic.

P
age 46



 Improve understanding of our customers.
 Promote equalities in the workplace.
 Act as supporting knowledge resources for staff when completing the Council’s Integrated Impact Assessment.

The fact sheets are available on the Council’s intranet for staff to access and will be will be used to provide Equality training for staff and 
Councillors.

P
age 47



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 4: GENDER/EQUAL PAY

MEASURES

Measures 2017/18
1. Understanding any gender pay gap the Council may have (Source: 

Council data).
Please see comments below for Progress on Actions.

PROGRESS ON ACTIONS

The Council undertakes regular gender pay gap reporting. All jobs are evaluated using the Greater London Provincial Council scheme of Job 
Evaluation (with the exception of Heads of Service who are processed via the HAY Scheme). No personal information regarding the post holder 
is taken into account at this stage. As a result, the grading system is free of any unconscious bias. The grades and additional payment 
mechanisms in operation at the Council are provided on a gender neutral basis. Therefore, there are no obvious discrepancies between gender 
during the reporting.

The Council’s Pay Policy Statement for 2017/18 was approved by Full Council on 22nd March 2017.

There is no inequality in pay. All jobs are scored fairly and consistently in accordance with the Greater London Provincial Council scheme. Our 
policies and procedures are continually monitored and reviewed to ensure that there are no hidden or perceived barriers. Historically, the Council 
together with Trade Unions undertook a lot of work with the implementation of single status and the new pay spine.

P
age 48



APPENDIX B
OTHER EQUALITY DEVELOPMENTS

Equalities & Diversity and Armed Forces Champion

 In order to emphasise the importance of Equalities and Diversity and the 
Armed Forces Community Covenant across the Council:

o Councillor Kevin O’Neill (Leader of the Council) is the Council’s Equalities 
and Diversity Champion; and 

o Councillor Andrew Barry (Portfolio Member for Governance and Corporate 
Services) is the Council’s Armed Forces Champion.

Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries

Holocaust Memorial Day: 

 Holocaust Memorial Day was celebrated on the 27th January 2018 with a 
parade starting at the fountain in Merthyr Tydfil, through the town, then ending 
at the Holocaust Memorial Garden. Superintendent Phillip Ashby of South 
Wales Police laid a wreath at the garden before everyone made their way to 
St David’s Church for the annual memorial service. There were approximately 
150 attendees. 

 In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library Service visited a 
number of schools and Scout groups to promote the Holocaust Memorial Day 
message, which was “The Power of Words.”

 Further funding was also obtained from the Council’s Regeneration 
Department to provide metal gates and railings around the Holocaust 
Memorial Garden. Over the year the garden has been tended by a group of 
local volunteers who have made vast improvements to the space, with 
planting and continuous maintenance. 

Community Groups:
 

 The community curling group that was set up last year has gone from strength 
to strength with its numbers doubling. The group have also added some new 
activities, including tennis and skittles. 

 A successful luncheon club has also been set up aimed at socially isolated 
and library” Homelinks” service customers. These have proved to be 
successful and developed into bi-monthly lunches.

Classes and Courses:

 Many successful well-being courses were held at our Dowlais Library branch 
over the year including: 

o Dementia Support Group.
o Memory Boxes - Dementia Group.

Page 49



o Mindfulness.
o Dementia Carers Support Group.
o Family Programme.
o Peer to Peer.
o Well-being Group.

Other:

 The Dowlais Old Age Pension (OAP) Group have continued their monthly 
social gathering at Dowlais Library, meeting up with friends for tea and a chat, 
and keeping up-to-date with local events.

 Treharris Library held a successful collection for the homeless in conjunction 
with the local Co-Op store.

 
Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance

The Council has developed a Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance working 
in partnership with the Vale of Glamorgan Council. The aim the Toolkit and Guidance 
is to support transgender and gender questioning children and young people, which 
offers an opportunity to raise awareness of gender identity whilst providing support 
and guidance to create a positive and inclusive education. 

It is a valuable tool for all staff working with children and young people in Merthyr 
Tydfil that ensures transgender and gender questioning young people are supported 
in an appropriate, consistent and equal manner. 

This Toolkit and Guidance will enable schools to further embed the good work they 
are doing in this area. It highlights areas to consider when developing whole school 
policy and practice that will allow transgender or gender questioning children and 
young people to achieve at school. It can support the confidence of staff in 
supporting pupils and students by providing valuable, specific and practical 
information on how to more effectively support transgender and gender questioning 
children and young people. This guidance was welcomed by the Visible LGBT*+ 
Youth Group Safer Merthyr Tydfil.

International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia

To celebrate International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia 
(IDAHOT) an Icons & Allies display board was set up in the reception area of the 
Civic Centre for the day as a mark to celebrate sexual and gender diversities.

To celebrate the event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on the 
same day as IDAHOT.

Global Village 

The success of the Global Village Festival has continued. The event attracts around 
4,500 visitors which gives professional and community members the chance to 
perform and allows organisations that promote equality and diversity issues, a 

Page 50



platform to reach out to people. It celebrates diversity but also recognises similarities 
and offers the chance to widen cultural horizons in a fun and creative way.

International Day of Older Persons

An event was held in October 2017 to celebrate International Day of Older Persons.

Guest speakers and information and advice were provided from a range of 
organisations including:

 Fire Service.
 Care and Repair.
 Age Connects Morgannwg.
 British Red Cross.
 Police.
 Cancer Aid.
 Dawn Bowden AM (Office).
 Citizens Advice Bureau.
 Older People’s Commissioner for Wales (Office).
 Energy Saving Trust.
 Drink Wise Age Well.

World Down Syndrome Day

In support of World Down Syndrome Day the Council encouraged staff to take part in  
‘Lots of Socks’ campaign. 

Page 51



APPENDIX C
WORKFORCE DATA - EMPLOYED STAFF AT THE COUNCIL 31ST MARCH 2018

Number of Staff

Permanent Fixed Term Full Time Part Time Total
1930 383 1299 1014 2313

Age
 

16-34 35-54 55-64 65+ Total
571 1269 423 50 2313

Disability

Deaf / Hard of 
Hearing

Mental Health 
Difficulties

Mobility 
Impairment

Learning Impairment Long-Standing 
Illness

Visual Impairment

12 6 7 7 41 3

Disability continued

Other No Disability Prefer not to Answer / 
Not Known

Total

24 1788 425 2313

Gender

Male Female Total
573 1740 2313

P
age 52



Sexual Orientation

Gay woman / 
Lesbian

Gay Man Bisexual Heterosexual / 
Straight

Other Prefer not to 
Answer / Not 

Known

Total

12 11 2 1816 5 467 2313

Religion

Christianity No religion Buddhism Judaism Islamic Other Prefer not to 
Answer / Not 

Known

Total

696 774 4 2 2 116 719 2313 2313

Ethnicity

White British White Other Asian Black 
Caribbean

Black African Mixed Race Prefer not to 
Answer / Not 

Known

Total

1800 31 9 2 1 3 467 2313

First Language

English Welsh Maltese Polish German Portuguese French Spanish
1397 27 1 8 2 2 1 1

First Language continued

Filipino Thai Prefer not to Answer /
Not Known

Total

1 1 872 2313

P
age 53



All Staff
Male FemalePeople Profile - Salary

Full Time Part Time Full Time Part Time
£0-£4,999 0 8 0 249
£5,000-£9,999 1 12 0 153
£10,000-£14,999 7 28 2 253
£15,000-£19,999 60 19 29 334
£20,000-£24,999 145 2 103 56
£25,000-£29,999 79 1 117 18
£30,000-£39,999 129 5 309 27
£40,000-£49,999 41 0 51 2
£50,000-£59,999 12 0 17 0
£60,000-£69,999 16 0 17 0
£70,000+ 8 0 3 0

Calculated: Total number of salaries 498 75 648 1,092

Job Applications

In terms of the number of staff who applied for a job internally at the Council, we received 201 internal applications of which 48 
were Male and 153 were Female.

In terms of external applicants the Council received 1,271 external applications of which 285 were Male and 986 were Female.

The Workforce Data is continued over the page.

P
age 54



Protected 
Characteristics

Number of 
employees 
subject to 

disciplinary 
procedures

Number of 
employees 
who have 

left the 
Council

Number of 
Staff taking 
Maternity 

Leave

Age 9 222 68
16-34 2 77 45
35-54 5 82 23
55-64 1 30 0
65+ 1 12 0
Prefer not to 
answer/Not Known 0 21 0
Sex 9 222 68
Male 5 60 0
Female 4 162 68
Disability 9 222 68
Disabled 1 6 0
Not Disabled 3 165 51
Prefer not to 
answer/Not Known 5 51 17
Sexual Orientation 9 222 68
Heterosexual 5 163 52
Lesbian/Gay 0 3 0
Bi-Sexual 0 0 0
other 0 2 0
Prefer not to 
answer/Not Known 4 54 16

P
age 55



Protected 
Characteristics

Number of 
employees 
subject to 

disciplinary 
procedures

Number of 
employees 
who have 

left the 
Council

Number of 
Staff taking 
Maternity 

Leave

Ethnic Group 9 222 68
English/Welsh 5 162 46
White other 0 1 1
Asian 0 1 1
Prefer not to 
answer/Not Known 4 58 20
Religion or Belief 9 222 68
No religion 1 88 24
Christian (all 
denominations) 3 56 16
Islamic 0 1 0
Buddhism 0 1 0
Other 0 9 1
Prefer not to 
answer/Not Known 5 67 27

P
age 56



APPENDIX D

LINK BETWEEN THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC EQUALITY OBJECTIVES FOR 2016-2020 AND THE WELL-BEING OF 
FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 AND THE SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELL-BEING (WALES) ACT 2014

Theme Equality Objectives Link to seven 
Wellbeing Goals

Link to Sustainable 
Development 

Principles

Link to Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) 

Act 2014
Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the 
heart of local decision 
making so that their 
contribution is understood, 
recognised and used to help 
the Council understand and 
respond to the needs of its 
communities.

 A Heathier Wales.
 A more equal 

Wales.
 A Wales of 

cohesive 
communities.

 A Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language.

 Long term.
 Prevention.
 Collaboration.
 Involvement.
 Integration.

 Physical and mental 
health and emotional 
well-being.

 Protection from abuse 
and neglect.

 Education, training and 
recreation.

 Domestic, family and 
personal relationships.

 Contribution made to 
society.

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to children; 
physical, intellectual, 
emotional, social and 
behavioural development 
and welfare. 

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day 
life and participation in 
work.

P
age 57



Theme Equality Objectives Link to seven 
Wellbeing Goals

Link to Sustainable 
Development 

Principles

Link to Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) 

Act 2014
Equality 

Awareness 
Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate 
Equalities training and 
learning opportunities so that 
staff at all levels, Councillors 
and partners recognise and 
incorporate Equalities as part 
of their role.

 A more equal 
Wales.

 A Wales of 
cohesive 
communities.

 Long term.
 Prevention.
 Collaboration.
 Involvement.
 Integration.

 Education, training and 
recreation.

 Contribution made to 
society. 

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day 
life and participation in 
work. 

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring 
systems to collect, collate, 
monitor and publish 
equalities data on our 
employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to 
ensure that it provides fair 
and accessible services.

 A Heathier Wales.
 A more equal 

Wales.
 A Wales of 

cohesive 
communities.

 Long term.
 Prevention.
 Collaboration.
 Involvement.

 Physical and mental 
health and emotional 
well-being.

 Protection from abuse 
and neglect.

 Education, training and 
recreation.

 Domestic, family and 
personal relationships.

 Contribution made to 
society. 

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to children; 
physical, intellectual, 
emotional, social and 
behavioural development 
and welfare. 

P
age 58



Theme Equality Objectives Link to seven 
Wellbeing Goals

Link to Sustainable 
Development 

Principles

Link to Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) 

Act 2014
 In relation to adults; 

control over day to day 
life and participation in 
work. 

Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council.

 A prosperous 
Wales.

 A more equal 
Wales.

 Long term.
 Prevention.

 Contribution made to 
society.

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day 
life and participation in 
work. P

age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Highway Adoptions

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The attached Table 1 in 3.4 outlines a number of highways that have been 
constructed as part of a housing development in the County Borough.

1.2 The highways have been inspected and have been constructed to the standards that 
enable the Council to adopt them as highways maintainable at public expense.

1.3 In the event that councillors accept the recommendation, as in 2.1 below, Notices will 
be displayed in the relevant locations declaring that to be maintainable at public 
expense should no valid objections be received within one month of the date as 
advised within the notice.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The streets as detailed in Table 1, under the highways Act 1980 Section 38 & 228 be 
adopted.

                                    

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The attached Table outlines a number of highways that have been constructed as 
part of a housing development within the County Borough.
 

3.2 The highways have been inspected and have been constructed to the standards that 
enable the Council to adopt them as highways maintainable at public expense.

Date Written 21st January 2019
Report Author Gerald Coughlan
Service Area Neighbourhood Services
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 61

Agenda Item 4



3.3 In the event that councillors accept the recommendation, as in 2.1 above, Notices 
will displayed at relevant locations declaring them to be maintainable at public 
expense should no valid objections be received within 1 month of the 
date advised within the Notice.

 

< 5.5m 5.5m 6m <7.3m >7.3m
step

s c/way f/way verge total

9818 358 666 S38 40 78 17/01/2019 7.3 2x2 7.3

6.5 2x2 10.5

6 2x2 10

5.5 2x2 9.5

Sweetwater 
Court and access 2846 318 S38 8 24 17/01/2019 5.5 2x1.8 9.1

4.5 2x1.8 8.1

TOTAL 12664 358 984 48 102

Date of 
inspection

Manor Court - 
Trelewis

Table 1 - Highways Act 1980 (Sections 38 and 228) and Local Government Act 1972 Section 111 - Adoption of Streets Following 
Completion of Developments

Widths (m)Lengths
H A 

Section
No of 

S/L cols.
No of 

gullies
Road/Street 

Name
Area 
sq.m

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 Following the adoption of the streets in this report :-

a) The Welsh Government will be informed of the change in County Borough 
highway lengths and the un-hypothecated funding system via future Standard 
Assessments (SSA) adjusted accordingly.

b) On adoption, the highways will be immediately maintainable at public expense 
for which funding will need to be found from the highways revenue budget in 
future years and will need to be considered by Council .

4.2 Amendments to Welsh government records, relating to the changes in the                                                                                                                                                                                             
County Borough highway lengths will result in changes to the funding stream             
via the Standard Spending assessment  procedure.   

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

Page 62



considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term

 Prevention

 Integration

 Collaboration

 Involvement

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 3 of 10 of 10 7of 10

4. Biodiversity
0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are … 

The Well Being objectives are that the proposal provides additional footway/highway networks 
for the benefit of the public of allages that will assist in developing the environment and safer 
communities and supporting people. 

The Sustainable Development Principles are that the proposal will give the opportunity to 
encourage more activity that leads to better physical health, promoting healthier behaviours and 
increased levels of physical activity. More physical activity will result in lesser dependency in 
motorized transport.     
 
No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development Principles, Protected Charactoristics, Welsh Language and Bisdiversity . 

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOODS 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

After School/Holiday Provision at the Cwm Golau 
Integrated Children’s Centre (ICC) 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report was requested by Cabinet as a follow up to the report that was discussed 
in Cabinet on the 19th December 2018.  That report provided the background to the 
requested expansion of childcare services at the ICC.  Cabinet agreed in December 
to allow the provision to provide full day care (8.30-4.00pm) for three to four year 
olds in line with the childcare offer.  However, the issues around widening of age 
ranges during both after school and outside of term times and the extension of hours 
until 6.00pm were deferred and are now brought forward in this report.

1.2 Section 4.0 sets out the picture of afterschool and holiday provision availability 
across the County Borough and the key drivers for the request to increase services. 
Section 5.0 examines in depth the use of these settings against their capacity with 
section 6.0 exploring the expected demand for places including what is currently 
available against the 30-hour childcare offer. 

1.3 The current cost of these services are set out in section 7.0 alongside the proposed 
costs for new services should the expansions be approved.  The options in relation 
to the way forward have been set out in section 9.0 including the risks/benefits of any 
approved expansions. It is recognised through consultation with the organisations 
that this is a tense situation for all providers.  There is no easy opportunity to ensure 
all providers achieve the best for their individual organisations, within what is a very 
competitive market place.

Date Written 11th February 2019
Report Author Chris Hole
Service Area Learning
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Elected members confirm that the full day care offer is for all three to four year olds.

2.2 Option 1 be agreed to restrict any two year olds to sessional care only during holiday 
periods within the two pre-schools.

2.3 Option 2a be approved to provide holiday provision for all children five to seven 
years old through the medium of Welsh.

2.4 Option 4 be approved as parents may require Welsh after school provision for three 
to four year olds.

2.5 Option 5a be approved to provide Welsh after school provision for all children five to 
seven years old.

2.6 Revisit the request to expand holiday provision, through the medium of English, in 
autumn 2019 when a better understanding of demand, supply and impact on current 
providers through the 30-hour offer will be known.   

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council is not responsible for the delivery of the childcare services at the ICC 
but has lease agreements in place with all three providers for the hire of identified 
facilities.  This includes a service specification, which outlines the services each 
provider is allowed to provide from the facility. 

3.2 Two of the resident childcare providers are voluntary sector not for profit 
organisations (Cylch Meithrin Pentrebach (CMP) and Little Rascals (LR) Pre-School) 
whilst the other is an independent business (Funtazia Day Nursery).  This means 
that the two pre-school providers receive a 30% community benefit discount on the 
market value for the hire of the facility, whilst the private business pays the full 
market value as agreed by Council in September 2014. 

3.3 With the introduction of the new Welsh Government (WG) childcare offer and the 
drive to increase the availability of Welsh language provision, the current pre-school 
providers have requested to implement new service models.  At Cabinet in 
December, it was agreed that providers would be allowed to provide full day care 
services in line with the requirements of the WG childcare offer as set out below.

3.4 Providers have been advised of the Council decision: 

 Resolved subject to the foregoing that: Option 3 be agreed and a further report 
be brought back to Cabinet in relation to the extended hours for Child Care and 
Holiday Care

 Cylch Meithrin Pentrebach and Little Rascals Pre-School be allowed to extend 
their term time and non-term time service for three to four year olds to allow 
children to access provision for a full day (8.30–4.00pm) in line with the childcare 
offer

Page 66



3.5 Consultation has taken place regarding the follow up report called for by Cabinet 
around the provision of after school and holiday services.  Providers have already 
raised concerns as to whether the decision above only allows those eligible for the 
childcare offer to access services during and out of term time or all three to four year 
olds and clarification is sought on this. 

3.6 The pre-school providers have requested the following service change:

 Afterschool Club – Cylch Meithrin Pentrebach (CMP) are seeking to provide a 
service to three to seven year olds from 3.00-6.00pm, through the medium of 
Welsh during and outside of term time.

 Holiday provision for three to seven year olds, thus allowing provision for siblings 
of younger children who already attend CMP.

 Little Rascals also wish to offer holiday provision for two to seven year olds, (two 
year olds remain sessional, three+ full day care) depending upon demand (this is 
only being requested to avoid revisiting this proposal in future years and may not 
be implemented)

4.0 CONTEXT OF AFTER SCHOOL AND HOLIDAY CHILDCARE IN 
MERTHYR TYDFIL

4.1 The 2017 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment  identified that childcare spaces 
continue to be predominantly available during existing school hours and outside of 
these times availability is likely to present challenges to parents who need childcare 
beyond the school day and particularly for those who require this outside traditional 
9-5 working hours.

4.2 After school clubs (provided by day nurseries (174 spaces) are the most numerous 
across Merthyr with day nursery settings accounting for almost 70% of all after 
school childcare places.  After school places outside of those provided by day 
nurseries account for only an additional 72 spaces in total across the County 
Borough. 

4.3 Available registered childcare spaces fall from 1,054 during term time to 718 spaces 
available outside of term time.  However, this is currently reflected in what appears to 
be a lack of demand for holiday childcare provision, which may change moving 
forward with the 30-hour childcare offer.  In terms of opening hours Welsh language 
provision is very inflexible with no immersive Welsh language registered childcare 
provision available after school, after 6pm, at weekends or outside of term time. 

4.4 All of the childcare providers accept that Funtazia does not provide an immersive 
Welsh language provision and the lack of provision through the medium of Welsh is 
a significant issue for the local authority given the requirements of the Cymraeg 
2050: Welsh Language Strategy.  This requires the authority to place an emphasis 
on availability of welsh language services thereby increasing the number of welsh 
speakers in order for WG to achieve the targets within the strategy. 

Page 67



4.5 The importance of parental choice and the ability to provide equitable access to 
services for parents is a real concern for the settings.  Dependent upon the decisions 
made the settings are concerned that they may have to turn parents away due to 
them not meeting a set criteria e.g. not eligible for childcare offer but wants access to 
services outside of term time or after school or not being able to access provision 
through the language of their choice.

5.0 CURRENT USE OF THE CHILDCARE SETTINGS 

5.1 The current full day care provider (Funtazia) is clearly concerned at the potential 
expansion by the onsite childcare settings and the potential impact on their business.  
Especially as not for profit organisations are often considered to be able to provide 
services at a reduced rate when compared to a private business.  The provider has 
made numerous changes to their business in recent years in order to provide greater 
flexibility for parents and to remain competitive in what is a challenging market place.

5.2 Funtazia currently provide full day care as well as both an after school provision and 
holiday provision for children aged six weeks to 12 years in the whole of the setting. 
The setting allows for a maximum capacity, at any one time, of 52 places however, 
availability and take up is determined by different age groups attending and the 
legislative requirements associated to the age groups.  A snapshot of usage across 
the setting for three identified weeks (spring, summer, winter 2018) as requested by 
MTCBC shows that:

 for day care the predominant age range is 24-35mths with an average weekly 
attendance (all ages) of 176 or 35 per day (spring) and 140 or 28 per day 
(summer).  Winter 2018 data shows 210 or 42 per day;

 for afterschool provision the predominant age range was five to seven year olds 
with an average weekly attendance (all ages) of 54 or 11 per day (spring), 58 or 
11.6 per day (summer) and 47 or 9 per day (winter); and

 according to the data supplied by the setting it is operating at slightly above 50% 
capacity.  In spring, 26 on site in the morning and 27 in the afternoon.  In 
summer the morning occupancy reduced to 21 whilst the afternoon remains at 
circa 50%.  In winter mornings reduced  to 15 on site (30% capacity) and 27 in 
the afternoon.

5.3 Both CMP (capacity 26) and LR (capacity 24) are currently only able to provide data 
on the use by children aged two to four during the school day for 2018, the analysis 
of which shows:

 For CMP the predominant age is three to four year olds with an average weekly 
attendance (all ages) of 177 or 35 per day (spring) and 122 or 24.8 per day 
(summer) and  150 or 30 per day (winter)

 Analysis demonstrates the setting is operating at 77% capacity (am) and 61% 
(pm) during spring, summer this reduced to 46% (am) and 50% (pm), and in 
winter this rose to 61% am and 55%pm

Page 68



 For LR the predominant age range is two to three years with  an average weekly 
attendance (all ages) of 168 or 34 per day(spring), 146 or 29 per day (summer) 
and 143 or 29 per day (winter)

 Analysis demonstrates the setting is operating at 88% capacity (am) and 50% 
(pm) in spring, in summer this reduces to 77% (am) and 45% (pm), in winter this 
has increased in the morning to 82% and decreased further in the afternoon to 
37%.  However, it is noted that the afternoon capacity is a planned reduction due 
to reduced staff numbers (maternity, meaning the setting can increase its intake 
in the future.

It should be noted that both settings do not currently offer either after school or 
holiday provision, which means they would both be able to create the number of 
places in line with their maximum capacity identified in 5.3 above for both afterschool 
and during holiday periods.

5.4 It should be noted that both Funtazia and CMP have over the past year utilised  
another ‘shared’ area of the ICC:

 For Funtazia this is to access a different environment for older children that 
better suits their needs.

 For CMP this is to increase capacity to 38 places to accommodate three to four 
year olds who have been unable to secure a place in Welsh medium school the 
term after their third birthday (registered education provider).  Without which new 
two to three year olds would not be able to secure a place in the setting.

5.5 Both Funtazia and CMP currently operate a pickup service from Ysgol Santes Tudful 
to facilitate childcare and prevent parents from having to move children during the 
school day.  Funtazia also offer an after school pick up service, which CMP would 
also introduce, if allowed to expand.  An analysis of current numbers of pickups 
across a week from Ysgol Santes Tudful by the providers is detailed in Table 1 
below.  In addition, Funtazia provide a pickup service from an additional four schools 
meeting the needs of an additional 24 families each week. 

Table 1

Funtazia  Day Care Cylch Meithrin  Day Care

20 87

5.6 Further analysis of this information shows that all CMP pickups are currently three to 
four year olds whilst the majority of Funtazia pickups are five to seven year olds (14 
of the 20) and four being in the eight to eleven age category.

5.7 The above demonstrates that none of the providers are operating at full capacity and 
each have spaces available to accommodate children at various times, however 
there are pressure points which are unique to each provider.  Hence the requirement 
of additional space within the facility.

Page 69



6.0 EXPECTED DEMAND FOR CHILDCARE OFFER DURING 2019

6.1 The CSA parental survey suggested that there would be a 56% take up of the 
Childcare offer which would equate to 200-230 children based upon the 400 three to 
four year olds potentially eligible for the offer.  These individuals would require part 
time or half-day provision to complement their school place and access to 
afterschool or holiday provision.

In addition to this, recent research by the Learning Department focused on the 
families with children who entered school in September 2018 or who will be enrolled 
during the 2018/19 academic year.  This identified that of those families potentially 
eligible (self-reported 509):

 53% (270) would wish to access the childcare offer during term time; and 
 55% (281) would wish to access the offer during holiday periods. 

The demand for places will however be heavily influenced by the offer in schools for 
children aged three and four. 

The providers at the ICC were also requested to survey parents about their potential 
future needs in relation to the 30-hour childcare offer.  The following is a summary of 
the responses:

 Funtazia: 10  families have expressed  an interest
 CMP:  40 families have expressed an interest
 LR:  10 families have expressed an interest

In addition to this, Ysgol Santes Tudful recently surveyed parents on potential use of 
an out of school /holiday childcare club if it was made available.  The main points 
from the total responses (93) received are summarised as follows:

 80 families(95%) said they would use after school provision if available
 62 families (74%) said they would use  holiday provision if available
 47 (51%)  currently use some form of after school or holiday provision 

6.2 Initial data on the childcare offer demonstrates that 67% (18) of childcare providers 
and one child minder across the County Borough have registered to deliver this 
service.  Current data obtained from Rhondda Cynon Taf identifies there have been 
112 applications to date with very few initially deemed as ineligible.  This has also 
shown a high demand for places through the medium of Welsh (29).

7.0 CURRENT AND PROPOSED  CHILDCARE CHARGES

7.1 The current costs of the existing provision by Funtazia and that proposed by CMP for 
after school services are outlined in Table 2 below. The charges for holiday provision 
also include those proposed by Little Rascals.

Page 70



Table 2

Funtazia 
After 

School
(3-6pm)

CMP
 After School 

(3-6pm)

Funtazia Hoilday 
Full Day 

(7.30-6pm)

CMP  Holiday 
Full Day 

(8.30-3pm)

LR 
Holiday

(9.30-4pm)

£15
per session

£14 
per session

£34 
per day

£27 
per day

£26 
per day

7.2 For after school provision, Funtazia include a pickup service from schools and 
provide a hot meal for each child which is included in the cost.  CMP also intend to 
offer a pickup service (included above £4) if there is sufficient demand but will not 
offer a hot meal. 

7.3 For holiday provision, Funtazia provide three meals and a snack, whilst CMP 
currently are proposing to only provide breakfast.  Parents will be required to provide 
their own packed lunch as CMP do not have access to appropriate kitchen facilities 
to provide hot meals.

7.4 LR will provide snacks for those children accessing the 30-hour childcare full day 
service.  Again, this organisation does not have access to appropriate kitchen 
facilities to provide hot meals.

8.0 ICC CHARGING/LEASING POLICY

8.1 The Council’s Estates Department periodically organises a market value assessment 
of the ICC to ensure the lease arrangements are appropriate and do not provide 
access to Council facilities below the market value, as required in section 123 of the 
Local Government Act.  However, the Council supplements this by the Disposal 
Consent of 2003, which provides the Council with the ability to agree, at below 
market rates, access to facilities where the service provides economic or community 
benefit:

 Funtazia being a private business, secured through tender, are charged in line 
with the independent valuation assessment obtained through the Estates 
Department.

 Both CMP and LR,  being voluntary organisations, are charged at the market 
value minus 30%.

 The facilities each have at their disposal are different and therefore comparison 
between the market valuations is not directly comparable. 

8.2 Both Funtazia and CMP have recently utilised an additional room in the facility 
outside of their current contracts and each have paid the agreed hourly hire rate, 
which is £10 per hour.  In line with the agreement in 2014 CMP are provided a 30% 
discount.  This is an interim arrangement (Jan – March) and providers are expected 
to confirm permanent usage of the area for the 2019/20 financial year.  This will then 
be integrated into their annual lease charges. 

Page 71



9.0 OPTIONS

9.1 There are a range of options that Cabinet can consider, each of which have different 
risks and benefits as outlined in Table 3 below.  It should be noted that in addition to 
these options members can choose to agree no expansion to the current services on 
offer.

Table 3

Benefits Risks
Option 1: 
Agree to restrict two 
year olds to accessing 
sessional day care 
only during holidays  - 
in line with current 
preschool 
arrangements 

 Maintains relationship between 
providers

 Maintains equality of access for  
parents with children aged two 
currently attending 

 Ensures two year olds use a 
nursery equipped for this age 
group for full day care

 Does not generate additional 
after school or holiday places 
for children over the age of 
five in either English or 
Welsh 

 One pre-school provider 
potentially relocates meaning 
a loss of income to the LA 

Option 2a: 
Agree access to 
holiday provision for 
any five to seven year 
olds to access 
immersive Welsh 
language provision

 Increases access to Welsh 
language services on a single 
site for parents with children five 
to seven years during holidays 

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 Loss of places should the 
private business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate

Option 2b: 
Agree access to 
holiday provision for 
five to seven year olds 
(older siblings only) to 
access immersive 
Welsh language 
provision

 Increases access to Welsh 
language services  for some 
parents with children five to 
seven years old during holidays 

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 Loss of places should the 
private business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate

 Potential risk of 
discrimination being levelled 
at the Council/setting

Option 3a:  
Agree access to 
holiday provision for 
any five to seven year 
olds within the LR 
setting

 Increases access to holiday 
provision for five to seven year 
olds on a single site

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 Loss of places should the 
business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate

Option 3b: 
Agree access to 
holiday provision for 
five to seven year olds 
(older siblings only) 
within  the LR setting

 Increases access to holiday 
provision for some parents with 
five to seven year olds on a 
single site 

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 Loss of places should the 
business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate

 Potential risk of 
discrimination being levelled 
at the Council/setting

Option 4:
Agree after school 
provision for CM for 
any three to four year 
olds to access 
services until 6pm

 Increases access to Welsh 
medium services after school for 
three to four year olds on a 
single site

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 This service may also be 
required within the childcare offer 
to support working parents

 Loss of places should the 
business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate

Page 72



Benefits Risks
Option 5a: 
Agree after school 
provision  for CM to 
enable five to seven 
year olds to access 
services 3-6pm 

 Increases access to Welsh 
medium after school provision  
for five to seven year olds on a 
single site

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 Loss of places should the 
business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate

Option 5b:
Agree after school 
provision for CM to 
enable five to seven 
year olds (older 
siblings only) to 
access services 3-
6pm 

 Increases access to Welsh 
medium after school provision  
for five to seven year olds on a 
single site

 Increases provision in line with 
potential demand

 Loss of places should the 
business become 
unprofitable and close

 loss of income should a 
provider relocate 

 Potential risk of 
discrimination being levelled 
at the Council/setting

10.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

10.1 The additional opening times during holiday periods will be demand led and based 
upon a future piloting of the approach and therefore this potential income to the 
Council is not guaranteed.  However, currently the two pre-schools pay a weekly fee 
of circa £130 for their current facilities per provider and therefore should this 
expansion be approved the minimum expected income for each full week of 
additional provision during holiday periods would be £130.  Additional income for 
holiday provision would be substantially less.

10.2 The risk for the local authority is that should full expansion of both settings be 
granted and there be a significant impact on the private business then the authority 
could lose an income of £21,080 if the private provider were to relocate.

11.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways 
of working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5  0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Page 73



Summary:
The main positive impacts are increasing access to services for children and 
families, enabling families to remain or engage in employment.
The main negative impacts are the potential impact on an individual private 
provider due to proximity.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of each 
proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 74



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen

ACTIVE TRAVEL FUND AND SAFE ROUTES IN 
THE COMMUNITY FUND

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 On 1st May 2018 the Cabinet Secretary for Finance announced £60 million to 
support active travel schemes as part of The Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan.  

1.2 Available over the next 2 years, the funding will create new active travel routes 
across Wales, connecting people’s homes to schools, jobs and their local community 
with the aim of encouraging more people to walk or cycle.

1.3 The report gives an update on the progress made on the current projects that has 
secured funding this financial year together with a suite of proposals that have been 
submitted to Welsh Government for years 19/20 and 20/21

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Cabinet note the progress that has been made by officers on current projects and 
approve the submission of funding applications both locally and regionally. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Date Written February 2019
Report Author Beth Jones/Cheryl Jones & Chris 

Long/Carwyn Morris 
Service Area Economic Development  

Committee Division Cabinet
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



3.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires public bodies to 
think more about the long-term, to work better with people, communities and each 
other, look to prevent problems and take a more joined-up approach.

3.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty on public 
bodies to seek to achieve the well-being goals and objectives in everything they do.

3.3 Prosperity for all:  the national strategy sets out the Welsh Government’s vision for 
Taking Wales Forward, and sets out the well-being objectives under four key 
themes.

Prosperous & Secure  Support People and businesses to drive prosperity
 Tackle regional inequality and promote fair work
 Drive sustainable growth and combat climate change

Healthy & Active  Deliver quality health and care services fit for the 
future

 Promote good health and well-being for everyone
 Build healthier communities and better environments

Ambitious & Learning  Support young people to make the most of their 
potential

 Build ambition and encourage learning for life
 Equip everyone with the right skills for a changing 

world
United & Connected  Build resilient communities, culture and language

 Deliver modern and connected infrastructure
 Promote and protect Wales’ place in the world

3.4 On 1st May 2018 the Cabinet Secretary for Finance announced £60 million to 
support active travel schemes as part of The Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan.  
Available over the next 2 years, the funding will create new active travel routes 
across Wales, connecting people’s homes to schools, jobs and their local community 
with the aim of encouraging more people to walk or cycle.

3.5 On the 3rd August 2018 the Minister announced that he was allocating £10.36 
million to local authorities across Wales for schemes to promote active travel for 
2018/2019.

3.6 In relation to Active Travel and the Local Transport fund, Welsh Government have 
made available to Local Authorities, two capital transport grants to deliver these 
objectives.  

3.7 MTCBC received funding in 17/18 for a local project and as you are aware the 
scheme the authority is making progress with is the “Gutty” at Quakers yard which is 
delivering an active travel community path from Quakers Yard to Treharris, and this 
route would be submitted to Welsh Government under the Local Transport Fund and 
this project will be completed within the next month.

Page 76



3.8 In addition and as part of our regional South East Wales collaboration MTCBC has 
led on a regional scheme to explore and improve regional Active Travel Network 
Strategic Improvements. This scheme looked at plans to improve access to South 
East Wales Metro Stations; Network Signing; Access Barriers and Network Bike Hire 
and some of the recommendations from this work and being implemented this 
financial year.  

3.9 A further scheme led by Rhondda Cynon Taff was also submitted and approved to 
the value of £125,000. This allocation of funding will further advance the 
development plans for the Merthyr / Abernant Tunnel and the Rhondda Tunnel and 
progress is being made in terms of Business planning.

4.0 In relation to 19-20 financial years, a suite of funding applications have recently been 
submitted to Welsh Government, and these are: 

Local Schemes 

 Afon Taf High School to Troedyrhiw Primary School Active Travel Route and 
£225,000 has been applied for to deliver walking and cycling improvements between 
Troedyrhiw community primary school and Afon Taf High School, these will include 
traffic signal improvements, new pedestrian crossing, footway improvements and 
improvements to the river walk.

 Gwaunfarren Primary School and £161,000 has been applied for to deliver 
improvements outside the school including construction of a new footway, widening 
of the road, road markings, controlled crossing and a new splitter island.

 Trevithick Trail (Tramroad) and £140,000 has been applied for to deliver 
improvements to the Trevithick Trail. The project will include a dedicated cycleway 
route along the tramroad.

Regional Schemes 

 An Active travel regional scheme has also been submitted for £390,000 and this will 
look to develop regional station travel plans which will detail the required physical 
access improvements and facilities that will enable active travel journeys to be 
promoted.

 A feasibility study will be carried out on delivering bike hire across region, along with  
the continuation of the network signing/barrier study and also the development of a 
INM scheme development pot where authorities across the region will be able to bid 
in for development funding.

4.1 Only schemes that were identified on the relevant Integrated Network Map, 
submitted to Welsh Government were considered for funding and an internal officer 
group was established to identify the priority projects that could be delivered this 
financial year.

4.2 So that MTCBC can successfully manage the regional and local implementation & 
development of the project, it is necessary to recruit and Strategic Programme officer 

Page 77



and a monitoring & finance officer, for a fixed term period of 3 years. The funding of 
these posts are part of the wider series of funding submissions to WG including 
Metro + Programme and Active Travel local and regional schemes. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no financial implications for Merthyr Tydfil CBC and the schemes will be 
100% funded by Welsh Government.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1

Summary:
The main positive impacts are increased walking and cycling routes that will have an 
improved impact on people’s health & well-being.  Further positive impacts on the 
environment as an increased volume of people would be encouraged to walk and cycling 
rather than driving.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
PORTFOLIO MEMBER

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 78



Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

REGIONAL TRANSPORT AUTHORITY METRO 
PLUS PROGRAMME 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The South Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious 
‘modal shift’ in connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic 
geography of the region. It represents forward thinking on the future of mobility and 
its mission it to provide contemporary public transport that will promote behavioural 
change. 

1.2 City Deal in collaboration with Welsh Government and Transport for Wales, has 
identified a proposed integrated programme of local future transport schemes that fit 
within a wider Metro Plus programme.  These proposals have been drawn from the 
priorities surfaced by individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ – creating both 
short and longer-term opportunities for place-shaping. They bring together a diverse 
range of projects, spanning regeneration, town centres, housing and economic 
growth, with transport as the central component or ‘enabler’ in allowing growth, 
expansion and opportunity to be unlocked. 

1.3 The proposed package of schemes totals some £50m. Initial work on the programme 
to date, demonstrates that a £15m contribution from City Deal (proposed 
Infrastructure Fund), should lever in a potential £15m co-investment from Welsh 
Government’s Local Transport Fund. 

           
1.4 In relation to the LTF funding application opportunity, MTCBC have submitted an 

application for £4.1 Million pounds on behalf of the region for the years 2019/20 This 

Date Written February 2019
Report Author Beth Jones/Cheryl Jones & Chris 

Long 
Service Area Economic Development  
Committee Division Cabinet
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



will enable the progression of each scheme in the financial year 2019/20. It is 
anticipated that the WG will fund up to £4.1m in 2019/20, but should this be 
unaffordable within the LTF budget, it may be necessary for CCR  to fund up to 50% 
match fund for 2019/20 to enable the progression of the programme in a timely 
manner. 

1.5 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has the opportunity, and regional 
endorsement of the Regional Transport Authority to lead on the programme of works 
across the ten Local Authorities.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Cabinet note the progress that has been made regionally and approve the 
submission for Merthyr to lead on this for the region.

2.2 Cabinet approve the recruitment of 2 staff to successfully manage the regional and 
local implementation & development of the project, for a fixed term period of 3 years. 
The funding of these posts are part of the wider series of funding submissions to WG 
including Metro + Programme and Active Travel local and regional schemes.  

2.3 Cabinet approve any additional administrative costs to support accountancy 
functions. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The South Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious 
‘modal shift’ in connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic 
geography of the region. It represents forward thinking on the future of mobility and 
its mission it to provide contemporary public transport that will promote behavioural 
change. With commitments to renewable energy provision and sustaining pace of 
new technological developments, Metro has the potential to make a significant 
contribution to inclusive growth and will provide a core means of enabling 
sustainable business growth and facilitating shared prosperity.  At a very practical 
level, the emphasis is on regular, reliable, and resilient infrastructure. In terms of its 
wider ‘enabling’ impact, it is set to encourage inclusion and connections – enabling 
people to both move around and come together.

3.2 City Deal in collaboration with Welsh Government and Transport for Wales, has 
identified a proposed integrated programme of local future transport schemes that fit 
within a wider Metro Plus programme.  These proposals have been drawn from the 
priorities surfaced by individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ – creating both 
short and longer-term opportunities for place-shaping. They bring together a diverse 
range of projects, spanning regeneration, town centres, housing and economic 
growth, with transport as the central component or ‘enabler’ in allowing growth, 
expansion and opportunity to be unlocked. 

3.3 The Merthyr Tydfil specific project is Pentrebach Station and Park and Ride – the 
focus at Pentrebach is the regeneration of a significant brownfield site (Hoovers) that 

Page 82



has been largely vacant for 10 years. The South Wales Metro, with high frequency 
light rail connections, will be the catalyst for the development of a sustainable, mixed 
use, neighbourhood with new businesses, homes, shops and parkland, the Taff & 
Trevithick trails and on the doorstep of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. Redevelopment 
of the area has the potential to maximise opportunities provided from planned 
transport infrastructure investment (increases in service capacity, Pentrebach station 
and park and ride improvements and a potential future new metro station) and to 
support 440 homes and employment land. Electric charging points will be included 
within any future proposal implemented.

3.4 The proposed package of schemes totals some £50m. Initial work on the programme 
to date, demonstrates that a £15m contribution from City Deal (proposed 
Infrastructure Fund), should lever in a potential £15m co-investment from Welsh 
Government’s Local Transport Fund. The expectation of a full £15m ‘match’ from 
WG is strong and positive discussions are ongoing with the acceptance that this 
represents a strong offer to WG and a means of accelerating a wide range of 
projects. To date, against this requirement for £15m, £4.1m bid to the Local 
Transport Fund with further bids to follow.  

3.5 Through the course of business case testing and development, it is anticipated that 
the remaining £20m will be sourced through local developer contributions; third party 
and private sector funding, other potential government programmes and capital 
contributions from Councils. One demonstration of wider leverage potential is the 
work the Valleys Taskforce has commissioned on integrated transport hubs. These 
programmes must be joined-up in order to maximise leverage, alignment and co-
ordination opportunities. In addition, there are several opportunities through bodies 
such as Welsh Government ‘Transactional Capital’ and Energy Savings Trust around 
investment opportunities in low carbon pathways.

4.0 Scheme outputs 

4.1 The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal in collaboration with Welsh Government and 
Transport for Wales has identified a package of schemes to a value of c£50M that 
will enhance, extend, add value and future proof commitments to the south east 
Wales Metro. The package has been developed on the basis that both the Welsh 
Government and City Deal will commit, subject to full business case, a contribution 
of £15M each for scheme delivery. Additional funding will be secured from a number 
of sources, including; developer contributions, third party and private sector funding, 
other government grants and the councils’ own capital programmes. 

4.2 This exciting package of Metro+ schemes will be future proofed by the inclusion of 
the latest technological advances in vehicle charging for bus, taxis, car clubs and 
cycles, including energy generation where possible. In addition, the wider City Deal 
priorities around economic growth, the skills agenda, digital inclusion and open data 
will form a key aspiration.

4.3 The programme comprises the following projects:

 Abertillery Interchange – the current Ebbw Valley Railway service is one train per 
hour, with a further hourly service committed as part of the new rail partnership. A 

Page 83



long standing aspiration of local residents of the Ebbw Fach and Abertillery is the 
provision of a link to the EVR, so the initial work is focussed on identifying the current 
accessibility problems and issues, identifying smart, strategic objectives and 
developing a short list of options to provide this link. Electric charging points will be 
included within any future proposal implemented.

 Caerphilly Interchange – at an early stage of development, the provision of a new 
transport interchange for Caerphilly, on the site of the current bus and rail stations. 
High quality passenger facilities to be provided including electronic information, EV 
charging for buses and a larger park and ride facility. The initial stage development will also 
consider the wider business and green technology hub opportunities.

 Porth Interchange – the vision is to transform Porth into a prosperous and attractive 
town, which offers a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents and 
businesses, with improved connectivity to and from the surrounding areas being 
anchored by a Transport Hub and a regenerated “Station Quarter”. A site has been 
identified for this Transport Hub, which will house a seven bay bus interchange, taxi 
rank and cycle racks, with direct access to the rail station platforms and the Park and 
Ride, which will be further extended. Electric charging points will be included within 
the future proposal. 

 Barry Docks Interchange – the development of bus and rail interchange at Barry is 
a key aspiration, especially given its location in relation to Cardiff Wales Airport. It is 
anticipated that the interchange would include 4- 5 bus bays, have provision for taxis 
and potentially extend the existing Park and Ride site (currently at capacity) as the 
new rail partnership includes line frequency enhancement. Electric charging points 
will be included within any future proposal implemented.

 Pyle Interchange - implementation of a Park and Ride facility as part of the 
development of an integrated transport hub that serves the local community of Pyle 
and the nearby settlements of Porthcawl, Kenfig Hill, Cefn Cribwr and Cornelly. The 
existing 23-space car park at Pyle is currently at capacity and a minimum of 75 
additional spaces are being considered as part of the future development. The 
scheme will include the design and delivery of an additional P&R facility that can 
cater for current demand and future growth based on an updated business case. The 
proposal will also include appropriate Active Travel connections and will also give full 
consideration to the inclusion of EV charging points, and the provision of additional 
cycle parking facilities.

 Pentrebach Station and Park and Ride – the focus at Pentrebach is the 
regeneration of a significant brownfield site (Hoovers) that has been largely vacant 
for 10 years. The South Wales Metro, with high frequency light rail connections, will 
be the catalyst for the development of a sustainable, mixed use, neighbourhood with 
new businesses, homes, shops and parkland, the Taff & Trevithick trails and on the 
doorstep of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. Redevelopment of the area has the potential 
to maximise opportunities provided from planned transport infrastructure investment 
(increases in service capacity, Pentrebach station and park and ride improvements 
and a potential future new metro station) and to support 440 homes and employment 
land. Electric charging points will be included within any future proposal 
implemented.

Page 84



 Severn Tunnel Junction Park & Ride - an additional 150-200 space park & ride 
facility on the south side of Severn Tunnel Junction station. There is currently a 
substantial shortfall of spaces, which creates problems within the existing car park 
and nearby streets. The scheme will enable reconfiguration of the existing (north-
side) station car park including more than 40 additional bike & ride spaces, safer 
walking & cycling access, arevamped bus-rail interchange, EV charging spaces and 
potentially an improved station building (with ticket office, café, shop, WC).

 Pontypool and New Inn Station Park and Ride – the proposed enhancements at 
Pontypool and New Inn Rail Station include a new Park and Ride (200 spaces) 
which will be accessed from the A4042 trunk road, DDA compliant platform access 
and improved station facilities including cycling facilities. The station is a potential 
interchange point with passengers from the ‘Eastern Valley’ including Blaenavon, 
Abersychan, Pontypool, New Inn, and also for Usk and the West of Monmouthshire. 
This station will support the nearby proposed Mamhilad development with a current 
allocation of 1,800 dwellings. EV charging spaces provided within the new P&R.

 Newport to Cardiff Bus Priority - the Newport to Cardiff Bus Corridor links a 
number of significant trip attractors - Cardiff City Centre, the St Mellons Business 
park, Cleppa Park/IQE Semi-conductor plant, the Office of National Statistics and 
Patent Office, the Royal Gwent Hospital, Newport City Centre and the Wales 
International Conference Centre. Services on this corridor suffer from extended 
journey times (current schedules indicating a time of circa 1 hour to undertake the 
15-mile journey), with operators confirming services are subject to considerable 
journey time variability. Initial work is ongoing on an improvement package that 
includes high-quality roadside infrastructure to promote and facilitate increased bus 
use. The scheme will also provide the foundation for a Park and Ride facility to be 
developed on the eastern side of Newport, where EV charging could figure 
prominently.

 East Cardiff Bus Priority – this project incorporates a series of sustainable and 
active travel packages that will enable improved bus connections in Cardiff City 
Centre, improved active travel infrastructure and pedestrian safety improvements. 
The infrastructure improvements will benefit local and regional transport through 
providing improved sustainable connections to key transport hubs, employment 
zones and visitor destinations. Improvements include new bus priority measures to 
connect local and regional buses through the east and south of the city, installation 
of Central Cycle Superhighway that will connect and link all 4 cycle superhighways to 
the city centre, 20mph Zone and traffic calming measures, air quality Improvements, 
cycle parking and Next Bike, and EV charging points.

5.0 REGIONAL COORDINATION AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT  

5.1 MTCBC will be the lead partner responsible for the overall project & finance 
management on behalf of the partnership, delivering claims and progress reports to 
Welsh Government. 

Page 85



5.2 A project Board will be established with each of the project partners represented. 
The board will monitor and manage the overall progress of the project. 

5.3 MTCBC in its capacity as lead partner will coordinate agreed partnership 
agreements with all partners. All partners will prepare agreed financial claims against 
their profile & submit progress report templates. MTCBC will collate all financial 
claims and reports to Welsh Government. 

5.4 MTCBC will produce a detailed project plan for the delivery & recording of the project 
activities to include key dates and milestones. 

5.5 So that MTCBC can successfully manage the regional and local implementation & 
development of the project, it is necessary to recruit and Strategic Programme officer 
and a monitoring & finance officer, for a fixed term period of 3 years. The funding of 
these posts are part of the wider series of funding submissions to WG including 
Metro + Programme and Active Travel local and regional schemes. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 MTCBC have submitted an application for 4.1 Million pounds on behalf of the region 
for the years 2019/20, this will enable the progression of each scheme in the 
financial year 2019/20. 

6.2 If the application is successful, it is anticipated that WG will fund up to £4.1m in 
2019/20, but should this be unaffordable within the LTF budget, it may be necessary 
for CCR to fund up to 50% match fund for 2019/20 to enable the progression of the 
programme in a timely manner.

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1

Page 86



Summary:
People will have better access to transport hubs and interchanges to improve their 
working and everyday life, bringing people and places together in a way that promote 
behavioural change.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER CHIEF OFFICER 
COMMUNITY REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
PORTFOLIO MEMBER

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

CCTV Control Room Upgrade

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Following a review, a risk has been identified within the CCTV provision. The current 
control room equipment and majority of cameras are of an analogue nature and are 
reaching breaking point. There have been several occasions where recording and 
playback equipment in the control room has failed and replacements had to be 
sought.

 
1.2 It has now reached the stage where there is no spare replacement equipment within 

the control room that can be used if something were to break or fail.

1.3 Replacement equipment has been identified as difficult to source due to the age and 
analogue nature of the current equipment.

1.4 Upgrading the control room to digital equipment will allow the control room to record 
digitally and the playback functionality will be significantly improved.

1.5 The control room is a priority to upgrade because if this fails then the service fails; 
there will be no recording of cameras and if incidents occur these will not be 
captured. A full wider review of CCTV provision will be undertaken. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The capital expenditure to upgrade the CCTV control room be approved from the 
Capital Programme.

Date Written 12th March 2019
Report Author Paul Lewis
Service Area Community Safety
Committee Division Regeneration and Public 

Protection
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Following a review, a risk has been identified within the CCTV service provision. The 
current equipment housed within the Control Room and majority of cameras are of 
an analogue nature and is of an age where it is reaching breaking point. 

3.2 If the current analogue equipment were to break or fail, sourcing replacement 
equipment will prove difficult and lengthy due to the type of equipment that would be 
required.

3.3 Each time a failure or problem has occurred previously the service has been 
fortunate that the contractor could fix or make a temporary repair using the 
equipment that was held. This is no longer the case. 

3.4 There is a requirement to maintain the service and the recording of CCTV cameras. 
To facilitate this, the upgrading of the control room equipment to a digital format is 
required.

3.5 The control room is the hub and priority of the CCTV service. If equipment were to 
fail there could be no recording of cameras. This in turn means that should an 
incident occur this may not be recorded.

3.6 By upgrading the control room to a digital platform the current cameras which are 
analogue can still be used for recording. At present viewing the images live is 
sufficient but when incidents of criminal activity are captured, playback and 
downloading of images are of poor quality which may not lead to potential 
convictions. 

3.7 By recording digitally and playing back digitally there is no loss of clarity in images or 
footage that has been recorded. This improvement will be beneficial when identifying 
incidents and events that have occurred. This improvement will be welcomed by 
police and courts when reviewing evidence.

3.8 If the Council continues to provide CCTV coverage throughout the County Borough 
then initial investment in the control room is needed.

3.9 The control room upgrade will be the first phase with priority being in the transition 
from analogue to digital technology. Some of the surveillance cameras are already 
digital ready and each analogue camera that requires replacing will be replaced by a 
digital camera.

3.10 Following this first phase, a wider review of the CCTV service will be undertaken and 
a report brought back before Cabinet at a later date.

Page 90



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 The initial cost to upgrade some of the control room elements will be £35,000 which 
is being requested from the Capital Programme. If there is slippage in the capital 
programme this could accommodate the cost of the upgrade.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

4 of 5 0 of 5 1 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the proposal will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives and the Sustainable Development Principles. The proposal will have a 
positive effect on the ‘Environmental Well Being and ‘Living Well’ objectives.

There are no negative impacts.

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 91



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 92



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme – 
Quarter 3 Progress 2018/2019

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an update on progress of the Change and Well-being 
Programme as of quarter three 2018/19.  The programme for 2018/19 has been 
developed and delivered through the following work-streams: Customer and 
Administrative Support Services; Outcome Focused Redesign (redesign of all our 
frontline services); and also the four well-being objectives which are, Best start to 
Life, Working Life, Environmental Well-being, Living Well.  

1.2 The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme is governed by the Change and 
Well-being Programme Board (CWPB).  The CWPB is chaired by the Deputy Chief 
Executive. The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme works alongside the 
Budget Board to address the financial requirements of MTCBC.  The operational 
delivery of identified change programmes and projects is monitored via the MTCBC 
Change and Well-being Steering Group (CWSG).  

1.3 It should be noted that the current position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 96% 
of the anticipated savings this equates to a saving of £2,687,000 against a target for 
the programme of £2,786,000.  

1.4 The next steps regarding the Change and Well-being Programme will be to continue 
to work on the delivery of change for 2018/19; deliver budget strategy work to design 
the MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme going forward; support the 
development of proposals and implementation to meet financial pressures and Well-
being objectives.  These proposals will follow the operating model design for the 

Date Written 27th February 2019
Report Author Matthew Rivers / Lorna Townsend
Service Area Corporate Services 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



programme under the work-streams of:  Customer and Administration Services; 
Outcome Focussed Redesign; Social Services.  There could also be the 
reintroduction of Income and Procurement work-streams if proposals were identified 
and developed.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Cabinet Members will be aware of the ‘Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – 
Quarter 3’ report presented to Cabinet on the 20th February 2019.  The report 
projects a net revenue deficit of £106,000.  This includes savings realised as part of 
the MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme.  The programme team is analysing 
further opportunities.

2.2 To arrive at this position, address the financial pressures of 2018/19 and going 
forward for MTCBC, three work-streams have been developed and will continue 
within the programme.  These are: Customer and Administration Service; Outcome 
Focused Redesign, and Social Services (redesign of our frontline services).  

2.3 Aligned with the statement of Well-being, the Council has four Well-being objectives 
these are:

2.3.1 Working Life:
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil 
an attractive destination

2.3.2 Environmental Well-being:
Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside

2.3.3 Living Well
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

2.3.4 Best Start to Life
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals

2.4 The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme is governed by the Change and 
Well-being Programme Board (CWPB).  The Change and Well-being Programme 
Board is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive.  The Change and Well-being 
Programme Board reviews change programmes and projects and has the authority 
to call on service managers and/or programme/projects managers to challenge and 
support them on the delivery of their programmes/projects.  

Page 94



2.5 The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme works alongside the Budget Board 
to address the financial requirements of MTCBC.  As such this report supports the 
‘Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 3’ report (20th February 2019).  

2.6 The operational delivery of identified change programmes and projects is monitored 
via the MTCBC Change and Well-being Steering Group (CWSG).  The CWSG 
provides challenge and support to service managers and, in conjunction with the 
CWPB, hold managers accountable for delivering proposed savings.  The group 
comprises of MTCBC officers and is chaired by the Head of Strategic Support 
Services and is made up of staff members from Business Change, Performance, 
Legal, HR, Corporate Communications, Finance, Equalities and Risk, and Social 
Services.  This approach allows the programme to maintain the pace required for 
delivery in implementing the work-streams outlined above.

3.0 PROGRESS – QUARTER THREE 

3.1 To be able to manage the programme effectively, the work-streams have been 
categorised as follows:

Category Explanation
Blue Project 100% complete and savings accrued
Green Successful delivery of the project/programme to time, cost 

and quality appears highly likely and there are no major 
outstanding issues that at this stage appear to threaten 
delivery significantly

Amber Successful delivery appears feasible but significant issues 
already exists requiring management attention. These 
appear resolvable at this stage and if addressed promptly, 
should not present a cost/schedule overrun

Red Successful delivery of the project/programme appears to 
be unachievable. There are major issues on 
project/programme definition, schedule, budget required 
quality or benefits delivery, which at this stage does not 
appear to be manageable or resolvable. The 
Project/Programme may need re-baselining and/or overall 
viability re-assessed

3.2 The work-streams outlined below are to address changes required for 2018/19.  The 
current status of these work-streams is summarised in the table below: 

Page 95



3.3 It should be noted that the current position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 96% 
of the anticipated savings (a saving of £2,687,000 against a target for the 
programme of £2,786,000).

3.4 There has been good progress made within the Customer and Administration 
Project.  Further improvements have been made to our digital offering. 

3.5 Social Care projects remain red as options are currently being considered for each 
project continuing into financial year 2019/20. 

3.6 Well-being projects have been identified as part of the ‘Focus on the Future’ 
document (2018/19 onwards) and relate to our well-being objectives. The well-being 
projects will follow the same governance arrangements as the change projects and 
will be reported to the Change Management and Well-being Steering Group.

4.0 Next Steps

4.1 To continue to work on delivery of change and well-being to meet the targets set for 
2018/19.  

4.2 To finalise the Budget Strategy work and set out the programme of change and well-
being going forward.  To implement Phase 1, Phase 2 and the 6% budget reduction 
exercise.

4.3 Develop and support the implementation of proposals to meet the financial pressures 
and well-being objectives.  These will be based on the operating model design for 
services and align to the Change Programme work-streams of: Customer and 
Administration Services; Outcome Focussed Redesign; and Social Services. There 
may be other services that will be identified as the year progresses and opportunities 
arise. These work-streams will be delivered by MTCBC with the Business Change 
Team working with key officers and departments from across the Council to 
implement the programme.  

Page 96



4.4 To continue to monitor, challenge and support the delivery of the change and well-
being programme via the CMSG and CMPB

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 It should be noted that the current position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 96% 
of the anticipated savings this equates to a saving of £2,687,000 against a target for 
the programme of £2,786,000.

5.2 Any redundancy costs will be accounted for centrally through the Finance Team.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are against the well-being objectives and sustainable 
development principles.  Projects are aligned to meeting the well-being objectives. 
Forward plans and projects are to be delivered via the 5 ways of working. 

There are no negative impacts.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 97



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 98



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Report Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments 2017/2018

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Local Authorities are required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to 
produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments policy and procedures.

1.2 This report highlights the key points contained in the Annual Social Services 
Complaints, Representations and Compliments report. 

1.3 The Annual Report on Social Services Complaints, Representations and 
Compliments for 2017/2018 is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Social Services provide support to the most vulnerable people in our community, 
often in very difficult situations, and routinely deliver effective services that make a 
real difference in people’s lives.  Sometimes, however for a variety of reasons, 
people will make a complaint about the service they have received.

2.2 Local Authorities are required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to 
produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments policy and procedures.

Date Written February 2019
Report Author Jonathan Strong
Service Area Complaints
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th March 2019

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



2.3 The Annual Social Services Complaints, Representations and Compliments Report 
for 2017/2018 sets out the Department’s performance in relation to how it has dealt 
with the complaints, representations and compliments it has received.

2.4 The report details the number of complaints that were received and dealt with at all 
the available stages of the policy across both children’s and adults’ services.

3.0 ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

3.1 The annual report for 2016/2017 showed that in total we received 68 complaints.

3.2 The table below details the complaints that were received in 2016/2017 across 
Children’s and Adult services.

Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

Adult Services 27 2 29

Children’s Services 38 1 39

Total 65 3 68

3.3 The annual report for 2017/2018 showed that in total we received 78 complaints of 
which 95.6% were resolved at the informal stage.

3.4 The table below details the complaints that were received in 2017/2018 across 
Children’s and Adult services across all stages of the complaints process.

Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

Adult Services 33 1 34

Children’s Services 42 2 44

Total 75 3 78

3.5 There was an increase of 10 or 14.7% in the total number of complaints received 
between 2016/2017 and 2017/2018. 

3.6 For comparison purposes the number of complaints received over the last three 
years was as follows.

Service Area 2016/2017 2015/2016 2014/2015

Adult Services 29 25 36

Children’s Services 39 39 52

Total 68 64 88

Page 100



3.7 For a variety of reasons, people will make a complaint about the service they have 
received.  It is important that anyone who makes a complaint about our services has 
a right to be listened to properly with their concerns resolved quickly and effectively.  
In addition, it is important that Local Authorities learn from these complaints and 
where necessary use them to identify where services should be changed and 
improved.

3.8 Every effort is made to resolve matters at a local level with the emphasis on 
achieving successful resolution of complaints.  At stage one the Local Authority 
usually offers to discuss (either face-to-face or by telephone) the matter with the 
complainant within ten working days to attempt to resolve matters.  This approach 
allows for quick and successful resolution of most complaints.

3.9 Complaints received that are progressed to Stage 2 are normally more complex in 
nature and often contain several components of dissatisfaction that need to be 
independently investigated.

3.10 Our emphasis at all stages is focused on achieving satisfactory resolution of matters 
rather than upholding or not upholding complaints.  

3.11 All complaints are unique in their own right and often contain several elements of 
dissatisfaction to be addressed.  This is particularly relevant at the formal stage, 
hence the reason why the majority of stage two complaints are part upheld – some 
components being endorsed, while others not vindicated. 

3.12 Communication issues including failure to respond within appropriate timescales to 
messages and failure to update customers on decision continued to be a theme 
through this reporting period.

3.13 Whilst we do our very best and work hard to resolve complaints within the statutory 
timescales it is however acknowledged that some complaints can be complex, 
sensitive and difficult to resolve and that this is not possible on all occasions.  It is 
important to note that an over emphasis on quick resolution within performance 
indicator timescales could detract from ensuring that full and proper consideration is 
given to complaints and that at times to achieve a successful resolution to the 
complaint it is necessary to take longer to investigate than the set timescales.

3.14 Timescales will continue to be monitored to improve and promote adherence to 
statutory legislation and increase the timeliness of responses at stage one.

3.15 Social Services continue to adopt a positive attitude towards complaints, we continue 
to learn from complaints and view complaints as a valuable form of feedback, which 
assists in the development and improvement of services.  While not all complaints 
are upheld they do, however, provide useful information in respect of the way 
services are delivered.  They provide us with the opinions of our customers and also 
provide opportunities to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of expected 
standards.

3.16 Social Services will continue to provide for the needs of the community, achieving 
the Council’s vision and strategic aims for the future.  The needs of the population 
are changing and we will continue to learn and develop from complaints.  Services 

Page 101



have continued to experience high levels of demand, reflecting the levels of 
disadvantage and the challenges faced by a significant number of families living in 
the County Borough.  The Social Care Complaints Procedure provides citizens with 
an essential, effective way of communicating their concerns so that levels of 
customer satisfaction can be increased and our services continue to improve. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1
Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

3 of 5 0 of 5 2 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:
The main positive impacts are Social Services continues to adopt a positive attitude 
towards complaints, we continue to learn from complaints and view complaints as a 
valuable form of feedback, which assists in the development and improvement of 
services.  While not all complaints are upheld they do, however, provide useful 
information in respect of the way services are delivered.  They provide us with the 
opinions of our customers and also provide opportunities to learn lessons where a 
service has fallen short of expected standards.

There are no negative impacts.

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES

Page 102



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Social Services 
Complaints Policy

10th September 2014 Complaints Office, Civic Centre

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 103



Appendix 1

Annual Report 
Social Services

Complaints, 
Representations and 

Compliments
2017 / 2018

Page 104



INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Local Authorities are required by regulation to produce an Annual Report about the operation of 
their Social Services Complaint procedures.  This report provides a summary of statistical 
information relating to complaints and representations dealt with during the period April 2017 to 
March 2018. 

Social Services in Merthyr Tydfil adopts a positive attitude towards complaints and views them as a 
valuable form of feedback, which assists in the development and improvement of services. 
Complaints also provide an opportunity to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of an 
expected standard.

The representation and complaints procedure is publicised generally and specifically to people who 
use our services and provides them with an opportunity to:
 Voice their concerns when they are dissatisfied in order that the issue can be rectified to their 

satisfaction, wherever possible;
 Make compliments;
 Suggest improvements;
 Challenge decisions.

The aim is for our representation and complaints procedure to secure a better service for all the 
people using social care services and is underpinned by the following key principles:
 Commitment to providing quality services;
 Accessible and supportive to those with particular needs;
 Prompt and responsive with resolution at the earliest possible opportunity;
 Operated without prejudice or discrimination;
 Adheres to the principle of equal opportunity.

The representation and complaints procedure also provides an opportunity for service users to 
address concerns in relation to independent sector providers where they remain dissatisfied 
following implementation of the agencies own internal complaints procedures.

Receipt of all the complaints received were acknowledged within the statutory timescale (two 
working days).  In some cases the issues raised fell outside the responsibility of the Social Services 
Directorate and in these instances, the Complaints Officer liaises with the appropriate Directorate 
or Agency to ensure that the complaint is dealt with appropriately. 

The Social Services complaints process has two stages: 

Stage One: Local Resolution – The emphasis at this stage of the process is to resolve the complaint 
by means of discussion and problem solving.  The complainant will be offered a dialogue about the 
issues they have raised and this can either be done by telephone or face to face in a meeting in an 
attempt to resolve the issues.  This must be done within 10 working days of the receipt of the 
complaint. Following this discussion and any further investigation that is necessary, a written 
response will be provided within 5 working days.

Page 105



Stage Two: Formal Consideration – If the complainant remains dissatisfied after completion of 
stage one, they may request that the complaint proceeds to stage two of the process.  This involves 
a formal independent investigation of the complaint with a report being produced by the 
investigating officer appointed to the case.  The timescale for dealing with this stage is 25 working 
days. 

If the complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of the stage two investigation, they may 
progress their complaint to the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales.

All Social Services complaints received are recorded into the following categories:-

ANNUAL COUNCIL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (ACRF) MODEL
FOR CATEGORISATION OF COMPLAINTS

1. ACCESS
Lack of information; service delays; waiting lists; access to service; refusal of service.

2. ASSESSMENT
Decision delays; service costs; assessed needs; charging policies; delays in assessment
 The council failing to do something which the customer thinks it should have been done, 

even if it was not actually asked to do it:
o Failure to implement actions agreed in meetings.
o Failure to carry out an agreed / requested assessment.

3. CARE MANAGEMENT AND REVIEW
Removal and reduction of service; child protection; change of staff.
 The council failing to do something which the customer thinks it should have done, even if 

it was not actually asked to do it.
o Failure to implement actions agreed in meetings.
o Failure to carry out an agreed / requested assessment.

 The council doing something that the customer did not want it to do.
o The council making a decision to do something that the customer does want to happen 

in the future (e.g. planned placement changes, withdrawal of a payment facility).

4. RANGE OF SERVICES
Lack of service; identified needs not being met.

5. QUALITY OF SERVICE
Communication issues; not following through what was promised; continuity of care; not 
following procedure and policy; time keeping; failure to respond; breach of confidentiality; 
service quality; timescales; financial; late calls; medication; staff issues; conduct and attitude; 
standards.
 The council has not achieved the standard it says it will provide.
 The Service has not been provided to the standard which the customer thinks is 

reasonable:
o The council is carrying out its duties in an unsatisfactory way.
o Failure to follow council procedures including delayed processing, adherence to 

timescales, agreed workflows and stages.

Page 106



ANNUAL COUNCIL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (ACRF) MODEL
FOR CATEGORISATION OF COMPLAINTS

 Unacceptable behaviour by staff including rudeness, violence and aggression.
 Poor communication from the department to service user including:

o Failure to respond in appropriate timescales to messages and correspondence – this 
could be specific identification of an individual member of staff or of the team / service 
in general.

o Staff failure to update customer with regard to changes to meetings, appointments etc.
 The council failing to do something which it has been asked to do.
 The council failing to do something which the customer thinks it should have done, even if 

it was not actually asked to do it:
o Failure to implement actions agreed in meetings.
o Failure to implement actions following a previous complaint.
o Failure to carry out an agreed / requested assessment.

6. PROMOTING INDEPENDENCE AND SOCIAL INCLUSION
Discrimination; not being listened to.

Table 1: Overall complaints resolved

Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
Adult Services 33 1 34
Children’s Services 42 2 44
Total 75 3 78

The above table does not reflect the number of concerns received within the complaints 
department however if the matter is identified as case management and not a complaint we do not 
record these on our system but pass the concerns to the appropriate line manager.

Table 2:  Complaints over the last 2 years

2016/2017
Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
Adult Services 27 2 29
Children’s Services 38 1 39
Total 65 3 68

2017/2018
Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

Adult Services 33 1 34
Children’s Services 42 2 44
Total 75 3 78

Page 107



ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINT – STAGE ONE

Timescale (at the time of reporting) 2017/18
Within 15 working days 18
Over 15 working days 4
Within 20 working days 0
Over 20 working days 0
Ongoing / On hold 11

The stage one ‘start date’ is governed by (a) the date of acknowledgement, (b) the date on which 
an advocate is appointed or (c) where a complaint  is made by ‘other persons’, the date on which 
the Local Authority decides that the person has sufficient interest to warrant consideration.

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINT – STAGE ONE

The stage one ‘start date’ is governed by (a) the date of acknowledgement, (b) the date on which 
an advocate is appointed or (c) where a complaint  is made by ‘other persons’, the date on which 
the Local Authority decides that the person has sufficient interest to warrant consideration.

Timescale (at the time of reporting) 2017/18
Within 15 working days 22
Over 15 working days 5
Within 20 working days 0
Over 20 working days 0
Ongoing / On hold 15

Page 108



ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINTS – STAGE TWO

The formal complaints received are more complex in nature and often contain several components 
of dissatisfaction to be independently investigated.  During this reporting period, we received three 
complaints which were dealt with at stage 2.  The relatively low numbers in stage 2 complaints is 
due in large part to the Complaints Department being more pro-active in the management of the 
complaints process  through setting up meetings with the Line Manager and complainant within the 
stage 1 process.

Page 109



COMPLAINT OUTCOMES

The emphasis of the complaints process is focused on achieving a satisfactory resolution of the 
matter rather than on upholding or not upholding complaints.  

All complaints are unique in their own right and often contain several elements of dissatisfaction to 
be addressed.  This is particularly relevant at the formal stage, hence the reason why the majority 
of stage 2 complaints are part upheld – some components being agreed while others not 
supported.

Table 4: Adult Services Complaints Outcomes 2017/18

Not Upheld Part Upheld Upheld Inconclusive Total
Stage 1 19 8 3 3 33
Stage 2 0 1 0 0 1
Total 19 9 3 3 34

Table 5: Children’s Services Complaints Outcomes 2017/18

Not Upheld Part Upheld Upheld Inconclusive Total
Stage 1 20 12 6 4 42
Stage 2 2 0 0 0 2
Total 22 12 6 4 44

COMPLEXITY 

It should be noted however that the low number of stage 2 complaints does not reflect the 
significant time that they demand of the Complaints Department due to the complex and 
contentious nature of these complaints.

HABITUAL / VEXATIOUS COMPLAINANTS

During the year, one individual was subject to restrictions under this policy as a result of their 
behaviour and persistence in pursuing a complaint where the council’s complaint procedure has 
been fully and properly implemented and exhausted.  In addition we also limit contact so 
individuals are directed to the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Councils Complaints e-mail address in 
order to reduce the demands that these individuals has placed on certain departments.  Individual’s 
continued inclusion under the Habitual/Vexatious Complaints Policy is reviewed every six months. 

LEARNING THE LESSONS

It is crucial that there is learning from complaints at all stages of the procedure, resulting in 
improved services and service delivery, wherever possible.  Complaints provide useful information 
and feedback in respect of the way that services are delivered.

Page 110



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Social Services adopts a positive attitude towards complaints, we 
continue to learn from complaints and view complaints as a valuable form of feedback, which 
assists in the development and improvement of services.  While not all complaints are upheld they 
do, however, provide useful information in respect of the way services are delivered.  They 
provided us with the opinions of our customers and also provide opportunities to learn lessons 
where a service has fallen short of expected standards.

Some examples of actions arising from outcomes of investigations of complaints are summarised 
below:- 

 A common theme reported is a lack of information and communication from Social Services 
including failure to respond within appropriate timescales to messages and failure to update 
customers on decisions, delays in assessments, failure to implement agreed actions, and not 
following through what was promised.  Examples also include staff failure to update customers 
with regard to changes to meetings, appointments etc.  

 When the complaint is highly complex the Local Authority needs to ensure that they respond to 
‘scattergun’ complainants with one voice which will prevent the local authority being perceived 
as unable to communicate across departments

 For managers to support staff members who are subjected to inappropriate; abusive and 
aggressive behaviour from their clients and families.  

 Since the Local Authority has adopted the Welsh Government guidance on handling Complaints 
and Representations by Local Authority Social Services the Complaints department has within 
stage 1 of the procedure arranged meetings between the complainants and the managers of 
the relevant departments.  This has significantly reduced the number of complaints escalating 
to stage 2. 

Examples of actions taken on issues raised as a result of a complaint, the Complaints Department 
have:
 When the complaint is identified as being complex and includes a number of departments, 

meetings are held with the Managers of the relevant departments in order to formulate one 
response.

 The Social Workers have a long history of looking out for others but not necessarily claiming the 
success.  Managers are now recognising praise received which will support and encourage the 
Social Worker within their role.

 Social Workers are being involved with the complaint from the onset in order to obtain vital 
knowledge of why the individual felt the need to make a complaint, this has proved to be a far 
more positive outcome which has improved continual relationships between the client and the 
Social Worker.

COMPLIMENTS

It is always important to also hear when people are happy with what we have done. A total of 11 
compliments and positive comments were formally recorded during the year.

Compliments provide valuable information regarding the quality of services identifies where they 
are working well and identifies a balanced reflection of members of the public’s perception of our 
services.

Page 111



It is imperative that staff and managers pass all compliments received to the complaints 
department in order that they can be recorded.

The Complaints Officer recently held a meeting with Children’s Services staff to advise them of the 
Complaints process and also encourage staff to pass on compliments received to the Complaints 
Department.

Examples of compliments received during the year:

Comment:
I thought you should let you know what a wonderful piece of focused intervention from XXX which 
led to the child’s name being removed from the CPR earlier to-day.
I just wanted to say it has been a pleasure working with you over the last year.  You have been an 
amazing social worker for the young man we have been working with.  It is clear you are hugely 
committee to your role and you continue to show dedication, motivation and enthusiasm even in 
the most difficult of situations.  
You’ve been brilliant communicating with all members of the core group and I must say that the 
amount of detail that you out in your emails is very impressive!  Throughout the year I always felt 
that everyone knew what was happening with this case.
Just a quick email to thank XXX for the work she undertook over the weekend.  She kindly offered 
support to XXX looking after XXX.  Carers commented today that XXX had a lovely way with XXX 
and playing with her for hours – which XXX loved as XXX can be unpredictable, this support was 
very much appreciated by carers.
XXX is a compassionate, caring person whom I respect very much and there are few people that 
receive this accolade from me.
XXX I’ve copied you in as I feel that it’s important that your staff are recognised by myself for their 
work and professionalism with this case.
I have received flowers and chocolates yesterday as a thank you from a client.

CONCLUSION

The Social Care Complaints Procedure provides service users and their advocates with an effective 
way of communicating their concerns so that levels of customer satisfaction can be increased and 
our services continue to improve.

Like all other Councils in Wales we are facing the need to reduce the amount of money we spend. 
However, despite the increasing challenges faced by public services, in general, the number of 
complaints received is relatively small in comparison to the nature of the services provided. Overall, 
75 of all complaints were resolved at stage one.  However, it should be noted, that we need to 
continue to work to improve on the number of stage one complaint’s we resolve within 15 working 
days.  

Social Services continue to provide for the needs of the community, achieving the Council’s vision 
and strategic aims for the future.  The needs of the population are changing and we will continue to 
learn and develop from complaints.  On average, users of our services recognise the support and 
good practice afforded to them and the number of complaints recorded continues to be a very low 
percentage of the total number of people and children of Merthyr Tydfil who are provided with 
services.  

Page 112



The pressure on social services continues to increase with the numbers of older people rising and 
becoming a larger proportion of the overall population.  This will inevitably result in an increase in 
demand for social services.  Likewise, the demand for services continues to increase for Children’s 
Services.  

Services have continued to experience high levels of demand, reflecting the levels of disadvantage 
and the challenges faced by a significant number of families living in the County Borough.  The 
Social Care Complaints Procedure provides citizens with an essential, effective way of 
communicating their concerns so that levels of customer satisfaction can be increased and our 
services continue to improve.  With the Implementation of the Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act in April 2016 the expectations of the people we serve has increased, this will also be in 
the context of continued austerity.  We are therefore likely to continue to see an increase in 
complaints whilst services develop to meet the new level of expectation and austerity measures are 
absorbed. 

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

WELSH GOVERNMENT WARM HOMES - ARBED 
SCHEME 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Arbed am Byth have been appointed by the Welsh Government to arrange the 
installation of energy efficiency measures, like central heating or insulation in homes 
across Wales as part of the Welsh Government Warm Homes - Arbed scheme

1.2 The aim of the scheme is to help eradicate fuel poverty by identifying and installing 
where appropriate energy efficiency measures in properties in areas of severe fuel 
poverty across Wales.

1.3 The Arbed scheme provides a range of energy efficiency measures, including 
insulation, efficient heating systems and more, to households who are struggling with 
the cost of high energy bills, making homes warmer, more comfortable and more 
affordable to heat.

1.4 Officers have been working with Arbed am Byth to look at a scheme for Merthyr 
Tydfil using mapped data to define E, F & G rated privately owned properties across 
the borough.

1.5 The identified areas have been targeted in Penydarren and Dowlais (723 properties) 
and Twynyrodyn and Ynysfach (499 properties).  The areas have been identified 
using Energy Performance Certificate data coupled with Energy Savings Trust Home 
Analytics data.

Date Written 26th February 2019 
Report Author Zoe Thomas / Chris Long 
Service Area Community Regeneration 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 20th March 2019 

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



1.6 In February 2019, Welsh Government approved the Merthyr Tydfil scheme enabling 
Arbed am Byth to commence the engagement process with the community.  The 
scheme will target privately owned properties only.

1.7 In April 2019, Arbed am Byth will organise engagement events within the area-based 
scheme collaborating with the local authority to identify properties for inclusion in the 
scheme.  

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Arbed am Byth have been appointed by the Welsh Government to arrange the 
installation of energy efficiency measures, like central heating or insulation in homes 
across Wales as part of the Welsh Government Warm Homes - Arbed scheme.

2.2 The scheme is funded by the Welsh Government and the European Regional 
Development Fund.  The aim of the scheme is to help eradicate fuel poverty by 
identifying and installing where appropriate energy efficiency measures in properties 
in areas of severe fuel poverty across Wales. 

2.3 Arbed am Byth will work with Local Authorities across Wales to identify such areas 
and to propose area based schemes which will tackle fuel poverty.  

    
2.4 The Arbed scheme provides a range of energy efficiency measures, including 

insulation, efficient heating systems and more, to households who are struggling with 
the cost of high energy bills, making homes warmer, more comfortable and more 
affordable to heat. The measures installed will depend on the recommendations of a 
qualified and independent energy assessor following a Whole House Assessment of 
each property.

2.5 Arbed am Byth is focused on delivering community benefits throughout the lifecycle 
of the contract and is committed to working with and supporting highly-skilled sub-
contractors, taken from communities across Wales, that can provide a genuinely 
local service.

2.6 Local communities will play a vital role in both supporting and benefitting from the 
schemes, and the targeted regeneration investment will help create local jobs, 
enhance skills and employability, and create the environment for businesses to grow 
and thrive. 

2.7 The expected outcome for the public through the delivery of the Programme includes 
installation of free energy efficiency measures, energy bills being decreased, 
supporting those in fuel poverty, improved health by living in a warmer home

3.0 PROPOSAL FOR MERTHYR TYDFIL

3.1 Officers have been working with Arbed am Byth to look at a scheme for Merthyr 
Tydfil using mapped data to define E, F & G rated privately owned properties across 
the borough.  The identified areas have been targeted in Penydarren and Dowlais 
(723 properties) and Twynyrodyn and Ynysfach (499 properties).  The areas have 

Page 116



been identified using Energy Performance Certificate data coupled with Energy 
Savings Trust Home Analytics data. The Council had no involvement in choosing 
properties or areas as these were identified using a set of energy output metrics. 

3.2 In February 2019, Welsh Government approved the Merthyr Tydfil scheme enabling 
Arbed am Byth to commence the engagement process with the community.  The 
scheme will target privately owned properties only. 

3.3 The local authority will provide support to Arbed am Byth during the community 
engagement process at the front end and will monitor the delivery of the scheme and 
the impact / success it has had in Merthyr.  

3.4 In April 2019, Arbed am Byth will organise engagement events within the area-based 
scheme collaborating with the local authority to identify properties for inclusion in the 
scheme.  The local authority will send out the first letter inviting residents to the 
engagement event.  Arbed am Byth and Council Officers will then engage with 
residents and manage the whole of the customer journey to completion of the 
installation and sign off.

3.5 Arbed am Byth will write the application to Welsh Government on behalf of the 
Authority.  They will also manage the contractors on the scheme, will pay for the 
works to be undertaken and make the financial claims to WG.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications on the local authority.  The energy efficiency 
measures applied to each property will be funded by Welsh Government.  Any 
additional pre-works required will be financed by the property owner.  Officer time will 
be allocated to support the implementation of the scheme and to monitor progress 
over the delivery period. 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 1 of 10 0 of 10 9 of 10

Page 117



4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the delivery of the Arbed am Byth Programme will 
target fuel poverty in Merthyr Tydfil and will help the reduction of carbon emissions. 

No negative impacts have been identified.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 118



Document is Restricted

Page 119

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 13, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 13, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 133

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 13, 14, 15 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Annual Equality Report for 2017-2018
	4 Highway Adoptions
	5 After School/Holiday Provision at the Cwm Golau Integrated Children’s Centre (ICC)
	6 Active Travel Fund And Safe Routes In The Community Fund
	7 Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus Programme
	8 CCTV Control Room Upgrade
	9 MTCBC Change and Well-Being Programme – Quarter 3 Progress 2018/2019
	10 Annual Report Social Services Complaints, Representations and Compliments 2017/2018
	11 Welsh Government Warm Homes - Arbed Scheme
	12 Debt Write Off Report
	13 Sundry Debt Write Off Report
	14 Reconfiguration of the Edge of Care Offer – Children’s Services

